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INTRODUCTION

A Phase 1 archaeological survey of the Waterfront Commons, Borough of Staten Island,

Richmond County, New York  has been requested by the New York State Office of

Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation, Project Review Number 07PR04902, in

conjunction with the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation and the

United States Army Corps Permits and subject to OPRHP review, under Section 106

The project area includes Block 7620, Lot 1 and; Block 7632, Lots 1, 6, 50, 150 and

151.  A request was also made for Building/Structure Inventory Forms for 4914 Arthur

Kill Road, 4927 Arthur Kill Road, and 291 Richmond Valley Road.  See Figure 1 for the

location of the project area on the United States Geological Survey, Arthur Kill 7.5

minute quadrangle.  The project area is approximately 33.52 acres (13.565 hectares)

with 8.98 acres (3.63 hectares) underwater and 24.54 acres (9.93 hectares) upland.

This project is bounded in the north by the Outerbridge Crossing, Route 440, on the east

by Arthur Kill Road, zigzagging around the plaza and the veterinarian’s complex.  On the

south it is bounded by the Richmond Valley Road extension and the Mill Creek, and on

the western side by the Arthur Kill.

This report has been prepared by Greenhouse Consultants Incorporated of Bayonne,

New Jersey. This Phase 1 study includes background archaeological and historical

research documenting the potential for prehistoric and historic archaeological sites, and

Phase 1B field testing at the proposed Waterfront Commons commercial development

in the Borough of Staten Island, New York, New York. 

This sensitivity evaluation is organized in the following manner: first, an overview of the

geography and physical setting of the project area; second, a review of prehistoric

findings in the vicinity of the project area; third, a discussion of the historic sensitivity of

the project area; the results of field investigations of each of seven test areas; and

finally, conclusions and recommendations.  In order to provide a context for the

evaluation of any resources within the subject parcel, this study provides a synthesis of

published and unpublished documentation of prehistoric and historic resources within

and around the project area.
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Evaluations of the significance or potential significance of cultural resources were made

using the Criteria of Eligibility of the New York and National Registers of Historic Places

Programs.  The Criteria of Eligibility for the National Register of Historic Places are

described by the U.S. Department of the Interior National Register Program:

The quality of significance in American history, architecture, archaeology, engineering and

culture is present in districts, sites, buildings, structures or objects that possess integrity

of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and associations and

(a) that are associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the

broad patterns of our history; or

(b) that are associated with the lives of persons significant in our past; or

(c) that embody the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of

construction, or that represent the work of a master, or that possess high artistic

value, or that represent a significant and distinguishable entity whose

components may lack individual distinction; or

(d) that have yielded, or are likely to yield information important in prehistory or

history.

Criterion D is most often used when evaluating archaeological sites (Kuhn and Little

2000).

The initial background research, completed in 2008, was supervised by William

Goldsmith.  Documentary research was conducted by Paula Crowley and Antonella

Inserra.  State files were searched by Kim Croshier in 2008. Supplemental historic

research was conducted by Sandy in 2009.  The Tottenville Branch, New York Public

Library, the St. George Library Center, and the Staten Island Museum’s History Archives

all supplied information important in the understanding of the history of the project area.

The website of the Tottenville Historical Society also provided relevant information.  An

parcel was added to the southeast portion of the property in 2013. 

Phase 1B fieldwork was directed by William Sandy, RPA.  William I. Roberts, IV, RPA

assisted with parts of the fieldwork.  Sandy, Rebecca Catts, Paula Crowley, Antonella

Inserra, David Orme and Leah Weisburg carried out the preliminary field investigations

in 2008.  In the summer of 2013, Sandy, Roberts, Jonathan Bream, Jessica Devlin,

Sean Farrell, and Rosita Tirado completed supplemental testing of Area 1.  In
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September, 2012, Sandy, Roberts, Jonathan Bream, Jonathan Dritto, and Michael

Thomas carried out backhoe testing in Areas 2, 4, and 5.  In October and November,

2013, Sandy, Bream, Dritto, Nadine Stevens, and Thomas conducted Phase 1B testing

of newly added Area 7, and supplemental Phase 1B shovel testing in Area 2.  Field

photographs are by Sandy, Roberts, and Inserra.  Artifact processing and analysis was

completed by Paula Crowley. Graphics are by Crowley. This report was written by

Crowley and Sandy.
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GEOGRAPHY AND PHYSICAL SETTING

The project area is located in the Atlantic Coastal Lowland Physiographic Province. The

surficial geology consists of landforms and deposits of glacial origin. The southwestern

portion of Staten Island consists of terminal moraine overlying sedimentary rocks of the

Newark Basin (Benimoff and Ohan 2003). 

The project area includes of variety of vegetation, soils, and landforms, in a variety of

settings.  In the north is a dry stream bed running north to south, with associated

wetlands.  The stream resulted from the construction of the Outerbridge Crossing and

its purpose was to convey bridge runoff.  Vegetation in this vicinity includes an oak forest

with a dense understory.  To the south west there is an intermittent stream flowing from

west to east and emptying into the Arthur Kill.  Outparcels on the west side of Arthur Kill

Road include a medical building and a beverage distributor.  The southern part of the

project area has hummocks of fill scattered around a fairly flat artificial plateau.  There

are remnants of piers at the southwestern tip of the project area.  There is an artificial,

ditch-like gully running north south from near the shore of Weir’s Mill Creek to the vicinity

of the artificial pond.  

The principal investigator inspected the project area on foot on December 20, 2007.

Starting at the northern end of the project area.  Photo 1 illustrates the project area

entering on the north side of the shopping plaza, below the Outerbridge Crossing in

Area 1.  Photo 2 shows the stream encountered in Area 1 of the project area.  Photo 3

illustrates the steep slopes and construction debris lying in the northern part of the

project area in Area 5.  A pond was also encountered in the Area 5, and is shown in

Photo 4.  Following the stream, Photo 5 shows the stream entering Arthur Kill from Area

1.  Photo 6 illustrates the western edge of the project area along the exposed tidal flats,

as viewed from Area 6 and 5.  Photo 7 is a view of the pier remnants at the

southwestern tip of the project area in Area 3.  Photo 8 shows a portion of the former

mill located along the southern project area boundary in Area 3.  Photo 9 is taken in the

southern part of the project area in the flat expanse of the former historic mill-related

pond in Area 2.  Photo 10 is another view of the southern portion of the project area in

Area 2 facing west.  Photo 11 illustrates the pond in the Area 5, as approached from the

south.  The DEP Mill Creek Bluebelt is immediately adjacent to the southern portion of

the project area along Mill Creek.
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There is a reconnaissance soil survey of Richmond County available for study.  The

survey indicates that the project area contains three varieties of soil (New York City Soil

Survey Staff 2005).  The northernmost unit is the Wethersfield-Foresthills-Pavement &

buildings complex, 8 to 15 percent slopes.  These soils are found on strongly sloping till

plains and hills that have been partially filled.  The middle unit is the Wethersfield-

Foresthills-Pavement & buildings complex, 0 to 8 percent slopes.  These soils are nearly

level to gently sloping till plains and hills that have been partially filled.  The

southernmost soil unit is the Pavement & buildings, wet substratum-Laguardia-Ebbets

complex, 0 to 8 percent slopes.  These soils are nearly level to gently sloping urbanized

areas.  They are a mixture of natural soil and construction debris over swamp, tidal

marsh or water.  See Figure 2. 
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Table 1:  Project Area Soils

Name

Soil Horizon

Depths

cm. (in.)

Color

Texture

Inclusions Slope Drainage  Landform

Ebbets series A: 0-4 in.

Bw: 4-8 in.

C: 8-60 in.

VDkGrBr 10YR3/2

DkYwBr 10YR4/4

DkYwBr 10YR4/4

Lo 5% gravel

Gr Sa Lo 25%

gravel

Gr Sa Lo 30%

gravel

0-8% well Till plains

Foresthills

series

A: 0-2 in.

Bw: 2-15 in.

Ab: 15-27 in.

BAb: 17-28 in.

Bwb: 28-42 in.

Cd: 42-60 in.

VDkGrBr 10YR3/2

Br 7.5YR4/4

Bk 10YR2/1

Br 7.5YR4/3

RBr 5YR4/4

YwRed 5YR4/6

Lo 5% gravel, 1%

cobbles, 1%

stones

SiLo 5% gravel,

1% cobbles

Lo 1% gravel, 1%

cobbles

Lo, 5% gravel,

1% cobbles

Lo, 5% gravel,

1% cobbles

Lo, 5% gravel,

1% cobbles

0-15% well Urban till

plains

Laguardia

series

Ap: 0-8 in.

Bw: 8-26 in.

C: 26-79 in.

Brown 10YR4/3

Brown 10YR4/3

Brown 10YR4/3

GrSaLo, 2%

gravel, 5%

cobbles

VGrCoSaLo, 40%

gravel, 5%

cobbles

VGrCoSaLo, 50%

gravel, 7%

cobbles

0-8% well Urban till

plains

Wethersfield

series

A: 0-8cm (0-3in)

Bw1: 3-13 in.

Bw2: 13-27 in. 

C: 68-165cm

(27-65in)

Dk Br 7.5YR3/2

RBr 5YR4/4

Dk Red Br 5YR3/3

RBr 2.5YR4/4

Lo 10% gravel

Lo 10% gravel

GrLo 10% gravel,

5% cobbles

GrLo 15% gravel,

5% cobbles

0-15% well Till plains,

hills &

moraines

Key: Shades: dk-dark, v-very

Color: br-brown, YwRed-yellowish red, RRr-reddish brown, gr-grey, Bk-

black, GrBr-greyish brown, YwBr-yellowish brown

Textures: cl-clay, si-silt, sa-sand, gr-gravel, lo-loam



-7-

ARCHAEOLOGICAL SENSITIVITY

As part of the project evaluation process, this sensitivity study surveyed the files of

various city and state agencies for the location of known prehistoric and historic

archaeological resources within a two-mile radius of the project area.  The results are

presented in the following table.

Table 2

Archaeological and Historic Resources within a Two-Mile Radius

Site Number Site Name Recorder Description Distance

Prehistoric Sites

NYSM 4606

ACP-RICH-16A

Kreischerville Parker 1922:683 Early shell middens,

camp

includes project area

NYSM 8493

ACP-RICH-16B

Camp includes project area

A08501.002847 Price Prehistoric Site Mackey 2007 Prehistoric 2286 ft. N

A08501.000026 Nassau Place Site Pickman 1984 Buried evidence 2400 ft. S

A08501.000073 Canada Hill Williams 1967 debitage, tested

material

3195 ft. N

A08501.002815

see also

NYSM 770

A08501.0073

LPC-17

Fairview see also

Canada Hill

Heaton 2005 FCR, debitage 3195 ft N

NYSM 8492 Traces of occupation 3510 ft. SSE

A08501.002767 A7-MCB-1 John Milner

Associates 2000

Debitage &

hammerstone

3600 ft. NE

A08501.002766 C4-MCB-1 John Milner

Associates 2000

Workshop, flakes,

biface

3600 ft. NE

NYSM 771 Kreischer Yamin 1978 no info 3943 ft. N

NYSM 4603 Parker 1922 “Indian Fields” 4770 ft. NW-1.70 mi.

NE

NYSM 8491 Traces of occupation 4924 ft. S-4577 ft. SE
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A08501.002377 Honey Blossom Manchester 1989 Stray find, Mid-Late

Woodland, Jacks

Reef Corner Notched

1.04 mi. S

A08501.000880 Abraham’s Pond

Locus C

Pickman 1986 Prehistoric 1.04 mi. NE

NYSM 768 Page Avenue Yamin no info 1.05 mi SE

A08501.002707 P.S. 6-R Page

Avenue

Saunders 1998 Late Archaic lithic

workshop, projectile

points, hammerstone,

biface, debitage,

FCR, core, shell

1.13 mi. SE

A08501.000879 Abraham’s Pond

Locus B

Pickman 1986 Prehistoric 1.19 mi NE

A08501.000130 Park Headquarter’s

Site

Pickman 1986 Prehistoric 1.19 mi NE

NYSM 744

A08501.000122

Std 21-3

SIAS 30-RIC-19-AJA

Charleston Beach Salwen 1978 Multi-component

prehistoric

1.20 mi. NNW

NYSM  8471 Parker 1922 Middens?, traces of

occupation

1.21 mi SW-3223 ft.

SE

NYSM 770 Canada Hill Yamin 1978 no info 1.22 mi. NE

NYSM 743

Std. 18-3?

SIAS 30-RIC-20-AJA

Port Socony South Sainz 1962 Paleo-Indian camp 1.23 mi. N

A08501.000878 Abraham’s Pond

Locus A

Pickman 1986 Prehistoric 1.25 mi. NE

A08501.000025 Hopping Avenue Site Pickman 1984 Prehistoric buried

evidence

1.30 mi. SW

A08501.000018 Page Avenue Site Pickman 1984 Prehistoric buried

evidence

1.30 mi. SE

NYSM 8490 Traces of occupation 1.31 mi S - 1.45 mi

SE

NYSM 4604

ACP-RICH-14A

Sandy Brook Parker 1922:682 Mid-Late Woodland,

burials, traces of

occupation

1.31-1.96 mi. NE

A08501.000019 Bedell Avenue Site Pickman 1984 Prehistoric buried

evidence

1.32 mi. SSE

A08501.000124 Clay Pit Road Site Pickman 1986 Prehistoric 1.32 mi. NE
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NYSM 748 Hollowell Anderson, Howowell Early & Middle

Archaic, Kanawha,

bifurcated pts.

1.33 mi SE

NYSM 767 Tottenville Campsite

4A: Campsite 4B

Yamin 1978 Camps 1.33 mi SE

A08501.000140 Tottenville Kaeser 1966 Middle to Late

Woodland, East River

Cordmarked,

hammerstone,

debitage, bone &

shell, side-notched

drill

1.34 mi. SSE

A08501.002379 Woodvale-By-The-

Sea

Pickman 1988 Prehistoric Camp 1.38 mi. SW

A08501.002380 Area B Woodvale-By-

The-Sea

Pickman 1988 Camp 1.38 mi.SW

A08501.002376 Sprague Avenue Site Roberts 1987 jasper, chert, quartz

debitage, jasper

scraper, FCR

1.41 mi. S

A08501.000118 T & J Site Pickman 1986 Prehistoric 1.42 mi. NE

NYSM 8497 Village 1.43 mi. NE

NYSM 5702 New Site 2 Regenburg in

Jacobson 1980

Early Woodland

Historic midden

1.45 mi. NE

A08501.000123 Clay Pit Road Bluff

North Site

Pickman 1986 Flakes, biface 1.46 mi. NE

A08501.000024 Pittsville Avenue Site Pickman 1984 Prehistoric buried

evidence

1.46 mi. SW

A08501.000121 Clay Pit Pond East

Site

Pickman 2986 Prehistoric 1.51 mi. NE

NYSM 4623 Parker 1922:Pl. 211 Camp 1.52 mi. NE

A08501.000131 Junkyard Site Pickman 1986 Prehistoric 1.52 mi. NE

A08501.002842 Billops Ridge Site Saunders 2006 Early & Middle

Woodland 3000-1000

B.P.

1.53 mi. SW

NYSM 8494 Traces of occupation 1.53-2.24 mi. N-NE

NYSM 4623 Parker 1922

Skinner

Village, camp 1.55 mi. NE
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A08501.000023 Satterlee Street B

Site

Pickman 1984 Prehistoric buried

evidence

1.57 mi. SW

A08501.000017 Mount Loretto Site Pickman 1984 Prehistoric buried

evidence

1.58 mi. SE

A08501.000022 Satterlee Street A

Site

Pickman 1984 Buried evidence 1.59 mi. SW

NYSM 5701 New Site 1 Regenburg in

Jacobson 1980

Middle Woodland,

flintknapping, limited

function

1.63 mi. NE

A08501.000083 Winant Site Pickman 1986 Flakes 1.63 mi. NE

NYSM 8489 Traces of occupation 1.63 mi. SE

NYSM 7272 Parker 1922 Traces of occupation 1.64 mi. NE

A08501.000120 Gericke Farm Site Pickman 1986 Prehistoric 1.70 mi. NE

A08501.000030

(STD 1-3)

Ward’s Point

(Burial Ridge,

Tottenville)

New York

Archeological Council

1972

Archaic, Middle

Woodland, Historic

1.71 mi. SW

NYSM 773 Rossville Yamin 1978 Camp 1.77 mi. NE

A08501.002794 Bluebelt Prehistoric

Site 1

Saunders 2003 Lithic workshop 1.78 mi. SSW

NYSM 8487 Shell middens 1.80-1.85 mi. S

NYSM 4609 Parker 1922

Skinner

Shell middens,

grooved axe, burials

1.80-1.85 mi. S

NYSM 8192 Burial Ridge Jacobson 1960

Skinner 1909

Village, cemetery,

middens

1.80-1.85 mi. S

NYSM 8486 Camp 1.80-1.85 mi. S

NYSM 9295 Ward’s Point Ritchie, Anderson Early Archaic, Kirk

Stemmed, Lecroy,

Kanawha pts., RC:

5310 & 6300 B.C.

1.80-1.85 mi. S

NYSM 4619 Parker 1922

Skinner

Camp 1.80-1.85 mi. S

NYSM 8485 Shell middens 1.80-1.85 mi. S

NYSM 742 Port Socony North Salwen 1967

Sainz 1962

Paleo-Indian

Fluted point

Camp

1.81 mi. N

NYSM 4620 Parker 1922

Skinner

Camp 1.81 mi. SE
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NYSM 8484 no info 1.81 mi. SE

NYSM 741 Red Bank Area Salwen 1967

Skinner 1909

Camp, Traces of

occupation

1.81 mi. SE

NYSM 742

Std. 18-3

SIAS 30-RIC-20-AJA

Port Socony North Sainz 1962

Silver 1984

Paleo-Indian camp

Late Archaic,

Transitional

1.83 mi. NE

A08501.002569 Historical

Perspectives 1996

Middle-Late Archaic,

Woodland

1.84 mi. NE

NYSM 735 Wort Farm Skinner 1910:10 Late Archaic/Late

Woodland

1.91 mi. NE

A08501.000074

NYSM 739

30-RIC-16-AJA

Std 22-3

Chemical Lane Sainz 1967

Rubertone

Salwen 1967

Anderson

Archaic & Woodland 1.94 mi. NE

NYSM 740 Sharrot Avenue Salwen 1957, 1967

Skinner 1909

? 1.95 mi. SE

NYSM 7264 Parker 1922

Salwen 1967

Skinner 1909

Shell middens 1.95-2.0 mi. SE

NYSM 4621 Lemon Creek Parker 1922:Pl.211 Traces of occupation 1.95-2.00 mi. SE

NYSM 7323 Chemical Lane Locus

North

Salwen 1967

Anderson 1961

Late Archaic,

Transitional,

Perkiomen, Bare

Island, Poplar Island

pts, atlatl weights

2.0 mi. NE

NYSM 738

A08501.000075

Std 23-3

Staten Island

Archaeological

Society 30-RIC-16-

AJA

Pottery Farm Site Sainz 1967 Woodland 2.0 mi. NE

NYSM 4624

ACP-RICH

Parker 1922

Skinner

Archaic/Late

Woodland, Camp

2.0-2.24 mi. NE

Historic Sites

A08501.002627 Vessel 196 PanAmerican 1999 Wooden station car

float

500 ft. S

A08501.002846 Van Allen Farmstead Mackey 2007 Historic 2286 ft. N
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A08501.002814 form missing 3170 ft. NE

A08501.000079 Anderson Brick

Works Site

Pickman 1984 Historic structures 3250 ft. N

A08501.000029 Ellis Street Hotel Site Pickman 1984 Historic 4500 ft. SW

A08501.000080 Dubois House Pickman 1986 Historic 1.17 mi. NNE

A08501.002378 Salamander Court Roberts 1988 Historic & Prehistoric 1.39 mi. NE

A08501.002376 Sprague Avenue

Historic Site

Roberts 1987 Van Name family,

constructed 1839-

1852, ceramics,

glass, iron, etc.

1.41 mi. S

A08501.000081 Liss House Site Pickman 1986 Historic 1.52 mi. NE

A08501.002843 Fenceline Site Saunders 2006 18th century

Thomas/Billopp

1781-1835 Ward

1835-? Grim

1.53 mi. SW

A08501.000082 Porzio House Site Pickman 1986 Historic 1.53 mi. NE

A08501.002264 Pedro House Lot,

SGS 6

Askins 1979 mid-19th century

house

1.75 mi. NE

National Register Listed

90NR00894 Kreischer House

4500 AK Road

mid-19th century

house

2850 ft. N

94NR00526

A08501.000030

Ward’s Site Early Archaic 1.80-1.85 mi. S

90NR01033

A08501.002264

Pedro House Lot Askins 1979 mid-19th century

house

1.75 mi. NE

90NR01033

NYSM 747

A08501.002258

Std. 24-3

Sandy Ground

Historic

Archaeological

District

Schuyler 1974 19th century Free

Black community

(includes 51

individually listed

historic sites)

1.66 mi. NE

Cultural Resource Surveys

New York Harbor PanAmerican 1999 collection & drift

removal

includes waters off

project area

New York Harbor Raber 1996 collection & drift

removal

includes waters off

project area
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Allentown Lane Boesch 2007 Phase 1B, no sites north side of

Outerbridge Crossing

Block 7580, Bank

Branch

CRCG 2006 Phase 1B, no sites one block east along

Richmond Valley

Road

Gateway Cathedral Louis Berger 1990 Stage 1, no sites

eligible

1900 ft. E

Bricktown Centre John Milner

Associates

Phase 1B/2 2100 ft. NE

Van Allen Farmstead,

Price Prehistoric Site

URS Corporation

2005

Phase 3 data

recovery

1700 ft. N

Totten’s Landing Key Perspectives

1988

Phase 1, no sites 2400 ft. SW

Page & Giegerich

Avenue, Block 7792

Loorya & Ricciardi

2005

Phase 1, no

significance

3300 ft. SE

Honey Blossom

Development

Greenhouse

Consultants 1987

Stage 1B, 1 Jack’s

Reef Corner-Notched

point, 19th & 20th

century artifacts, no

significance

4700 ft. SSE

Chateau Du Bois Louis Berger 1987

Greenhouse

Consultants 1987

Greenhouse

Consultants 2004

Phase 1B, no sites 1 block east

Oakwood Beach

Water Pollution

Control Project

Pickman & Yamin

1984

Phase 1 - 13 areas

with

historic/prehistoric

potential

Hylan Blvd/Richmond

Ave. to Arthur Kill

Rd/Kreischer St.

A total of 76 known prehistoric sites lie within a two mile radius of the project area.  Two

of these sites are marked on site file maps as being within the current project area.

These sites are: NYSM 4606/ACP-RICH-16A and NYSM 8493 ACP-RICH-16B.  They

are described as early shell middens and camps.  The sites lying within two miles of the

project area include all known prehistoric cultural periods, from Paleo-Indian (NYSM

742, NYSM 743), Early and Middle Archaic (NYSM 9295, NYSM 748), Late Archaic, and

Woodland periods.  The southwestern portion of Staten Island is rich in prehistoric

archaeological sites.
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There are twelve historic archaeological sites within a two mile radius of the project area.

The nearest site is A08501.002627, Vessel 196, a wooden station car float, located 500

feet south of the project area.  The Van Allen Farmstead, A08501.002846 is located

2200 feet north.

Four National Register Listed properties are within a one mile radius of the project area.

These include the Kreischer House, lying north of the project area along Arthur Kill

Road, Ward’s Site/Point, a prehistoric site, and the Sandy Ground Historic

Archaeological District, which includes the Pedro House and 50 other individually listed

sites.

Twelve professionally conducted archaeological surveys have been conducted within

a one mile radius of the project area.  The most productive was a Stage 3 data recovery

by URS Corporation 2005 at the Van Allen Farmstead and, Price Prehistoric Site, 1700

feet north of the current project area.
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HISTORIC SENSITIVITY

The Waterfront Commons project area is located on the north side of Mill Creek across

from Tottenville, Staten Island.  Its western boundary is the Arthur Kill.  In 1626 Staten

Island was bought by the Director of the Dutch West India Company from Native

Americans.  The British won control of the colony of Nieuw Amsterdam in 1664.

Governor Lovelace made the final purchase of Staten Island from Native Americans in

1670.  Lovelace created two towns: Old Dorp and New Dorp, and granted patents to

several people.  The Governor Dongan divided New York into counties, with Staten

Island designated as Richmond County.  In March 1688 Richmond County was

partitioned into four towns: Castletown, Northfield, Southfield, and Westfield, which

includes the project area (Historical Records Survey 1942, Bayles 1887).

Captain Christopher Billop secured Staten Island for the colony of New York in 1668

(Morris 1898).  Billop was granted land in the southwestern part of Staten Island, which

he named the Manor of Bentley after his ship.  The grant started at 1163 acres (470.65

hectares) in 1676 and ranged up to 1600 acres (647.50 hectares) over time by 1687

(Leng and Davis 1930, Bayles 1887).  Billop started a ferry operation running to Perth

Amboy in 1700.  The Billop family owned the manor, which included the southern edge

of the project area, until the Revolutionary War when Colonel Christopher Billop

attempted to sell off the land in 1780, a going-away sale, since Billop was a loyalist.  The

Commissioners of Forfeitures confiscated the manor, voided some of the sales, and

resold the land (Morris 1898, Bayles 1887).

Immediately north of the Billop portion of the project area, Anthony Fountaine received

a tract of land on November 30, 1685.  The next tract north was 85¼ acres (34.5

hectares) granted to Matthew Lorne on December 23, 1685.  Mark (Marcus) Dosochoy

and Paulus Richards received a tract of land on September 27, 1694 for 255¾ acres

(103.5 hectares).  The Dosochoy/Disosway/DuSecoy family were French Huguenots,

along with the Fountain family, both leaving France before the Edict of Nantes in 1685

(Clute 1877).  Appendix 1 is a chain of title constructed for the blocks and lots of the

project area.  The Disosway and Cole families controlled portions of the project area for

well over 200 years.  The Coles arrived at Staten Island sometime during the

seventeenth century and became prominent in the Tottenville area.
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By the close of the eighteenth century, approximately 1158 people, including 267 slaves,

populated the town of Westfield (Bayles 1887).  Settlement grew around Billop’s ferry

landing, in what would become Tottenville.  The nineteenth century saw development

of the water resources of southwestern Staten Island.  Fishing, the oyster trade,

shipbuilding, and functioning as a transportation hub, enabled the community to grow.

The Staten Island Railroad to Tottenville was completed by 1860, further enhancing the

complex of ferries and railroads.  The grist mill, that was located on the southernmost

part of the project area, was founded in 1700 by Cornelius Disosway, and was the only

mill to serve Tottenville for a 200 year period, By the late nineteenth century, it had also

become a saw mill, for the ship building and carpentry industry in the area (Clute 1877,

Joline 1950, Mangino 2000).  As the importance and influence of the Totten family grew,

the name was changed from Bentley to Tottenville.

The construction of the Outerbridge Crossing at the northern end of the project area was

the culmination of years of planning for a bridge between Staten Island and New Jersey.

The creation of a bi-state agency, The Port Authority of New York and New Jersey,

enabled coordination between the two states.  John Waddell was the engineer who built

the cantilevered bridge that is 135 feet (41.15m) in height at mid-span, and has a total

length of 10,800 feet (3291.8m).  It was opened to traffic on June 29, 1928.  The bridge

was named after Eugenius Outerbridge, the first chairman of the Port Authority.

Through a review of the historic maps of the project area, the function of the southern

portion of the project was primarily industrial, while the northern portion served as

residential and agricultural.  The northern portion of the project area had at least one

house since early in the eighteenth century.

Figure 3 shows the location of the project area on the Colonial Land Patents drawn up

by Skene in 1907.  This map shows the northern boundary of Billop’s manor as part of

the southernmost portion of the project area, with Fountaine’s and Lorne’s patents

comprising the rest of the project area.

Figure 4 is from the 1781 Skinner and Taylor map.  This particular document shows

nothing illustrated within the project area, except for the road swinging through it.  There

is no bridge over what is now Weir’s Mill Creek.



-17-

Figure 5 is from Plan No. 31 du Camp Anglo-Hessois dans Staten Island, 1780-1783.

The mill is illustrated in the southwestern corner of the project area.  The Disosways own

the project area and land, including structures,  north of the project.  A road swings

through it.

Figure 6 is from McMillen’s 1933, A Map of Staten Island During the Revolution, 1775-

1783 which was compiled from three Revolutionary era maps: the Taylor & Skinner

Map-1781, Plan No 31 du Camp Anglo-Hessois dans Staten Island de 1780 a 1783, and

The Hessian Map, 1777.  Dusaway’s mill is shown further east, away from the Arthur

Kill.  The Dusaways own the property and structures extending north from Mill Creek.

Figure 7 is taken from the 1844 Smith map.  One structure appears to be located in the

southern portion of the project area.  No ownership is indicated on this map.

Figure 8 is from the 1845 United States Coast Survey.  Three structures are depicted

in the southern portion of the project area, on the north side of what is now known as

Weir’s Mill Creek.  Three other structures are shown much further north in the project

area; all three appear on high ground near tidal flats.  Open fields and tidal flats are

depicted within the project area.

Figure 9 is taken from the 1853 Butler map.  An unknown structure lies in the

northernmost part of the project area.  Mrs. Dissosway has a structure in the middle of

the project area.  The grist mill lies on the south side of the road with possibly two piers

shown at the southwestern corner of the project area.

Before 1850, Arthur Kill Road wound through the project area “... along the beach from

Kreischersville to the Mill Creek where it joined the Richmond Valley Road.  About this

time the road was altered to run directly over the elevation which stretches west of

Kreischersville down to the creek.  It crossed over a causeway built over the creek, thus

shortening by more than a mile the trip to and from Tottenville” (McMillen 1951:25).

Figure 10 is from the 1866 Coast Survey.  One structure is shown in the middle of the

project area.  Three buildings, presumably the mill and associated structures are

immediately to the southwest.  On Arthur Kill Road, a house is shown near the north end

of the southeastern area.  Tidal flats and open fields are depicted within the rest of the

project area.
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Figure 11 is from the 1872 Dripps map.  The saw mill owned by Weir is in the

southernmost portion of the project area.  It appears that a dam next to the mill left some

distance of land between the mill pond and the Arthur Kill.  A. Cole & Sons, Lumber and

Coal own the next strip of land, which is undeveloped.  Dissoway owns the next strip,

with a structure on the property.  Totten owns the northernmost strip, with a structure on

the property. 

Figure 12  is from the 1874 Beers Atlas.  Mrs. Totten owns 8 acres (3.24 hectares)in the

northern part of the project area, and has a house located on her property.  D.

Dissosway owns the middle 5 acres (2.02 hectares) of the project area, and his

residence is located east of the project area boundary.  A. Cole and the Cole Brothers

lumber, wood and coal company own the southern part of the project area.  A. Cole’s

house is located in the southeast end of the project area.  The lumber and mill company

has three structures located in the southern part of the project area, and the pond

appears for the first time behind the three structures on a map.  Richmond Valley Road

extends into the project area, and the road separates the Cole Brothers from the W.

Weir property.  The road extends northward, on the east side of the pond through

Dissosway’s property and ends in Mrs. Totten’s property.  A structure belonging to W.

Weir lies southeast of the project area and the Richmond Valley Road extension.  Weir’s

Grist and Saw Mill lie south of the Cole Brothers structures in the project area.

Figure 13 is from the 1887 Beers atlas.  Mrs. Totten’s eight acres and structure are in

the northern part of the project area.  D.W. Dissosway’s five acres and structure lie in

the middle section.  The A. Cole estate, structure and an office are lie to the southeast.

The Cole Brothers Lumber, Coal and Wood Yard, along with associated structures and

pond lie in the southwestern corner of the project area.  Weir Grist & Saw Mill lies

clumped with the Cole structures shown in the 1874 Beers Atlas.  The estate of W. Weir

lies to the southeast of the project area.  The Richmond Valley Road extension enters

the project area with one branch swinging around the W. Weir estate and the other

branch trending northward on the eastern side of the pond to Mrs. Totten’s house, and

the extending further into the estate of DuBois.

Figure 14 is taken from the 1890 Vermuele and Bien map.  Property ownership is not

indicated.  In the northern part of the project area, Mrs. Totten’s structure and

associated drive are still shown.  The Dissosway property appears divided into three

sections.  The western portion of the Dissosway property has a structure within the
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project area.  Three structures lie east of the project area boundary on two lots.  The

pond still exists, but the tidal flats appear greater in surficial extent than previous maps.

About five Cole structures still stand in the southern portion of the project area.  The

Weir mill buildings are shown just to the south.

Figure 15 is from the 1891 U.S.G.S. 15 minute Staten Island, N.Y. quadrangle, surveyed

in 1888 and 1889.  The structure in Mrs. Totten’s area still stands.  There are five

structures in the Cole/Weir southern portion of the project area.  The pond is not

depicted.  The Richmond Valley Road extension enters the project area and turns

northwest towards the structure in the northern part of the project area.  Extensive tidal

flats are shown in the western portion of the project area.

Figure 16 is from the 1898 Robinson atlas.  Col. Starr owns the 8 acres formerly

belonging to Mrs. Totten in the north.  Two structures and the drive to Arthur Kill are

apparent.  D.W. Dissosway owns 5 acres in the center with three structures to the east

of the project area boundary, along Arthur Kill Road.  The A. Cole estate has one

structure along Arthur Kill Road and an office to the southwest.  The pond exists along

the Cole Bros. Coal and Lumber and their seven structures.  The Richmond Valley Road

extension enters the project area as previously.  The Weir estate with three structures

and the mill, lie southeast of the project area.

Figure 17 is taken from the 1898 U.S.G.S. 15 minute Staten Island, N.Y. quadrangle,

surveyed in 1888, 1889 and 1897.  The Starr/Totten structure is illustrated.  The

Dissosway and A. Cole structures are also illustrated.  Three structures stand in the

Weir estate area.  Three structures are present in the Cole Brothers Coal and Lumber

area.  The Richmond Valley Road extension is illustrated and branches northwestward

into the tidal flat and the Arthur Kill.

In 1900 Weir’s grist and saw mills were still standing, but were not working.  By this time,

the water wheen had been replaced by a turbine.  Shortly after 1900 the water mill was

razed (McMillen 1951).

The 1907 Robinson atlas shows the addition of a small house owned by Mary F. Hilliard

on a small lot at the northwest corner of Arthur Kill Road and Richmond Valley Road.

The same house in 1917 had a small garage added (Robinson 1907, Sanborn 1917a,

1917b).
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Figure 18 is taken from the 1913 Richmond Topographical Survey.  The northern portion

of the project area is depicted as wooded and thick undergrowth.  A stream flows from

east to west.  The dirt road to the Starr/Totten house exists along with a subsidiary

structure.  The Dissosway estate shows cultivated fields within the project area, with

drains. Seven structures associated with the Dissosway property extend from Arthur Kill

Road, east of the project area boundary.  The A. Cole property shows the house along

Arthur Kill Road, a gravel drive leading to two ancillary structures and an orchard behind

the house.  The pond still exists behind the Dissosway and A. Cole properties.  A

wooden dock lies at the southwest corner of the project area with a line of spikes

extending inland, which still exist.  Wooden bulkheads line the Mill Creek.  A water grant

has been made to Souther Ship Building Company.  At the location of the former Cole

Brothers Lumber and Coal property, a two-story frame mill and five other structures

exist.  Three structures line the dirt road extension of Richmond Valley Road.  The

former W. Weir estate residence lies south of a cultivated field.  Marsh borders the

western side of the project area.

Figure 19 is from the 1917 Bromley atlas.  George H. Starr now owns twelve acres.  The

Totten/Starr house is still present with its dirt drive. The east-west stream is shown in the

northern portion of the project area.   Daniel W. Dissosway still owns the middle section

of the project area, with structures lying along Arthur Kill Road, and one structure near

the western boundary of the project area.  Mary C. Hilliard now owns the former A. Cole

estate.  Southern Shipping Company occupies the former Cole Brothers Lumber and

Coal Yard.  The pond still exists, and Southern Shipping has eight structures.  The

wooden dock is not shown.  The Richmond Valley Road extension branches at the

corner of the Southern Shipping Company and Hilliard’s residence.  It is not shown

extending through the Dissosway and into the Starr properties.

Figure 20 is thought to be a revision that dates to sometime after 1917, this Sanborn

map has been revised to show the Moran Towing and Transportation Complext at the

west end of Richmond Valley Road (Sanborn 1917a).  A later revision to the 1917

Sanborn fire insurance map shows the project area following the reolocation of the

Moran Towing & Transportation Company (Sanborn 1917b).

Figure 21 is from the 1924 aerial survey atlas conducted by the New York City Bureau

of Engineering.  The east-west creek is shown in the northern section of the project

area, and is wooded.  The Starr/Totten house, with its driveway is visible.  The
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Dissosway property has structures near Arthur Kill Road.  The pond is visible, along with

structures at its southern end.  The Richmond Valley Road extension travels to the large

wooden dock at the southwestern corner of the project area.  Three to four barges are

apparent.

In 1951, “... at low tide the remains of the mill dam, tide gate, and foundations of the old

mill can still be discerned, approximately 150' west of the Arthur Kill Road on the north

bank of the creek which crosses the Arthur Kill Road near this point.  At the threshold

of a house near by one of the old millstones now serves another purpose as a doorstep”

(McMillen 1951:25).

In summary, the project area has been a busy place for the past 300 years.  The

northern and central portions of the project area appear to have served as residential

areas for the Tottens and Starrs and for the Dissosways.  The southern part of the

project area served industrial purposes, as a mill that Dissosway founded in 1700 until

two hundred years later, and as part of the Cole Brothers lumber, wood and coal yard.

The Southern Shipping Company occupied the Cole Brothers location in the early

twentieth century.  The Dissosways and Coles were colonial patent holders from the late

seventeenth century.  The evidence from historical maps for the location of structures

is approximate.  The 1913 Borough of Richmond topographical survey and the 1924

Bureau of Engineering survey are the most accurate.  The Totten/Starr residence is

consistent on the maps.  The pond appears and disappears, sometimes within the same

year.  The depiction of the Arthur Kill and the Mill Creek often change.  The mill wanders

along the Mill Creek.  The remnants of the dock are still present, along with the line of

spikes.  The creek in the north, along with the dense underbrush and woods are also still

present.  The location of the pond is the flat expanse in the southern portion of the

project area today.
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Map Designated Structures and History

Map Designated Structures are discussed in this section.

1. unlabeled structure in north end (US Coast 1845, Butler 1853)

There is an unlabeled building in the north end of the project area on two

mid-nineteenth century maps (US Coast 1845; Butler 1853; see Figures

8 and 9).   This structure is in the west end of Area 1 or Area 5.

2. Mrs. Dissoway (Butler 1853), unlabeled (US Coast Survey 1866), Totten (Dribbs

1872), Mrs. Totten (Beers 1874), Mrs. S. Totten (Beers 1887), Mrs. Sallie A.

Totten (Standard Directory 1893), Col. Starr (Robinson 1898), George H. Starr

(Robinson 1907, Bromley 1917), Dissosway House (Davis 1920 photographs),

(Shepherd 2008:36). - with barn (Davis 1920:WTD 3551)

This structure is located behind the medical complex parking lots in a

wooded  location within Area 5.

A home belonging to Mrs. Dissosway is shown on the east side of the

north/south road closest to the water (presumably Broadway/Arthur Kill

Road or an earlier, more eastern road (Butler 1853).  Like all the buildings

on the Coastal Survey (1866) map (see Figure 10) the house in the north

end of the project area is not labeled (Dribbs 1872; Beers 1874; see

Figures 11 and 12).

The 1872 map shows the former Dissosway house as the Totten home,

while an 1874 map is labeled Mrs. Totten and the 1887 map is labeled

Mrs. S. Totten (Dribbs 1872; Beers 1874, 1887; see Figures 11 to 13).

From the 1893 directory, we know that Mrs. Sallie A. Totten lived on

Broadway.  Her property included 8 acres (Beers 1887; Standard Directory

1893; see Figure 17).  In 1907 her road was called Riverside, in 1911 it

was Broadway, a 1913 map shows it as Fresh Kills, but by 1917 it became

Arthur Kill Road in the project area vicinity (Robinson 1907; Borough

1913; Bromley 1917; see Figure 19; Merlis and Stonehill 2002:128).
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As the Totten family grew to prominence, the area formerly called Bentley

was changed to Tottenville in the 1860s.  The Totten family was one of the

oldest families on the south shore of Staten Island (Bayles 1887:583-584;

Clute 1877:427-428; Wager 1935; Joline 1950).  They settled in Staten

Island beginning in the late eighteenth century and owned considerable

property including Totten’s General Store and Totten’s Landing (Joline

1950:8; Shepherd 2008:42-47).

By 1898, the house was owned by Col. Starr.  Later maps list the owner

as George H. Starr (Robinson 1898, 1907; Bromley 1917; see Figures 16

and 19). The house was depicted in the 1917 fire insurance map,

(Sanborn 1917a, 1917b; see Figure 20).  

Staten Island historian William T. Davis (WTD) did a photographic

documentation of the empty house in 1920 (Shepherd 2008:36).  There

were a series of eight black and white photos by Davis of the interior and

exterior of the building.  He posed an elderly couple, perhaps the Starrs,

in front of the house (Davis 1920; see Figures 22 to 26).

WTD 3551 is captioned Disosway House near Kreischerville, S.I., N.Y.,

April 22, 1920.  It shows a man and woman standing in front of the house.

It has four windows and a central doorway on the ground floor and three

small windows projecting through the roof.  The front porch is supported

by 6 columns, 5 of which are shown.  There is a two-story high, frame

outbuilding partially shown on the right.  It has horizontal wood siding and

is likely a barn or shed.  Only two trees are shown, most of the area is

devoid of any vegetation (see Figure 22).  

WTD 3555 is entitled Disosway House near Kreischerville, Staten Is’d,

N.Y., April 22, 1920.  It shows the top of a stairway with a wooden railing

supported by narrow spindles.  The room has flowered wallpaper.  A

circular mark might be an old stove flue.   A vacant room is partially seen

through a doorway on the right, with a single 3 over 3 window illuminating

the photo.  The floors are wide wooden planks.
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WTD 3556 is marked Disosway House S.I., IV. 22, 1920, near

Kreischerville, S.I., N.Y. and shows the corner of a vacant room on the

upper story of the house.  There are two windows, a 6 over 6 window on

the right is flanked by horizontal segments of a massive beam.  This is

likely the northwest corner of the second story of the main house (see

Figure 23).

WTD 3557  Disosway House near Kreischerville, Staten Island, April 22,

1920 is a detail photo of the 6 over 6 window shown in WTD3556.  It is a

black and white copy negative and is underexposed.

WTD 3558 was published in Tottenville: The Town the Oyster Built. -

“Figure 17. Dissosway House, Richmond Valley. Photograph by William

T. Davis, April 22, 1920.  Collection of the Staten Island Museum, William

T, Davis Collection, 3558, This View shows the back of the house looking

toward the Arthur Kill (Shepherd 2008:36).  This photograph was

“flopped”, that is printed backwards (compare with WTD 3560).  As shown

in other photos and fire insurance maps, the addition was on the north

side of the building, not the south as it is shown in this print (Sanborn

1917a, 1917b).  The house appears to have been built in at least three

episodes.  The main section was probably a five bay, center hall, two-story

house.  There are two chimneys in the whitewashed main section, one on

the north end, and another within the south part.  A one and one-half

story, two bay addition was put on the east side.  A dirt path winds by the

old house (see Figure 24).  

WTD 3559 is marked Old Disosway House, S.I., N.Y. near Kreischerville,

April 20, 1920.  It is an interior photograph showing a 6 over 6 window on

the right (presumably the one in 3556 and 3557).  This is on the north side

of the building.  On the left is what may be a blocked off fireplace with a

simple wooden mantel.  

WTD 3560 is inscribed Disosway House near Kreischerville, Staten Island,

N.Y., April 22, 1920.  It also shows the rear of the house.  It appears to

face northeast.  The view is to the northeast.  The gable end of the original

house has one window on the ground floor and two on the second.  The
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porch on this section has two asymmetrical windows and what appear to

be open Bilco doors leading to a cellar.  The one and one-half story

addition has a single 6 over 6 window upstairs on the gable end, with a

single, shuttered window downstairs.  The south side of the addition has

a pair of 6 over 6 windows downstairs and a pair of eyebrow windows

upstairs. What appears to be a well pump is shown in the left foreground,

southeast of the house (see Figure 25). 

WTD 3637, marked Disosway House near Kreischerville,S.I., N.Y., April

22, 1920, shows the front (west) side of the house including the porch,

which appears to be supported by large boulders (see Figure 26).  

Two different revised versions of the 1917 Sanborn map both have the

Disosway/Totten/Starr house taped over, indicating it was removed

sometime after 1917.   Under this tape, one version also showed a small

outbuilding about 100 feet (30.48m) northeast of the house, which is also

shown on the 1907 map and the other 1917 map (Robinson 1907;

Sanborn 1917a, 1917b; Bromley 1917; see Figures 19 and 20).

“(T)he Disosway mansion was one of the old structures of Westfield,

demolished in building the approach to the bridge” (Leng and Davis 1930:

889).  The Outerbridge Crossing was completed in 1928.    

2a) 1-story dwelling (Borough of Richmond 1913; Bromley 1917; Sanborn 1917a,

1917b)

About 200 feet (60.96m) northeast of the Disosway/Totten/Starr House

was a small, one-story dwelling.  It is shown in 1913 and 1917 maps, and

survived several revisions of the 1917 Sanborn maps (Borough of

Richmond 1913; Bromley 1917; Sanborn 1917a, 1917b; see Figures 18

to 20).

3a) Dissosway Mill (Joline 1950), Disosway’s Mill (McMillen 1951), (Weir?)Sawmill

(Dropps 1872), Old Weir Mill-1892 (Shepherd 2008:36)
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Cornelius Dissosway advertised his “newly repaired” mills on Mill Creek in

1772 (Bayles 1887; McMillen 1951:25).  The mill was considered a

notable local landmark.  A 1778 deed (Liber G Page 1) records a property

on the road to Dissosway’s Mill (Shepherd 2008:34-35).  The French Map

(Plan No. 31 1780-1783) shows what looks like a tidal Mill located in about

the same location as the later Weir/Cole tide mill (see Figure 5).  Early in

the 1800s, Dissosway’s Mill was owned by members of the locally

prominent Butler family (Shepherd 2008:37; McMillen 1951:25-26).  The

Dissosway Mill was apparently owned by the Weir Family for most of the

nineteenth century (Joline 1950:5, 49).

The old Weir Mill is in the foreground and the Cole Brothers coal and

lumberyard is in the rear of a photograph first published in Tottenville in

Retrospect (Joline 1950:49).  

The Old Weir Mill

When this picture was taken (1892), the old mill, altho (sp.)

somewhat enfeebled, was still turning.  Its owner Matthew Weir performed

all the offices of skill and responsibility required for its operation.  His

death occurred soon after this time, leaving the ancient landmark to time

and decay.  

Cole Brothers

In the distance may be seen a part of their coal and lumber yard.

A study of the photograph reveals the result of the morning’s work.  The

canal boat, now empty, rides high and its cargo of coal lies in heaps on

the dock.  Freemont Decker is still standing atop the pile, where he was

stationed to stop the full bucket when it came within his reach.  The

“Fannie J.” is fastened to the coal barge (Joline 1950; photo reprinted in

Shepherd 2008:36; see Figure 27)

Another view of the “Dissosway-Cole Mill, Tottenville,” but is clearly the

same tide mill, was published in Staten Island and Its People, A History

1609-1929 (Leng and Davis 1930; Figure 28).  This Tide Mill is called

“Dissosway’s or Weir’s Mill” elsewhere in the book (Leng and Davis

1930:611) and Dissosway’s Mill by other experts (McMillen n.d., 1951).
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.  

“The forfeiture of the Billop estate opened up all the southwestern end of

the Island with the interesting consequences that the gristmill on the Fresh

Kill which had served the needs of the farmers of Green Ridge and

Smoking Point was no longer centrally located and as a result, about 1800

Cornelius Dissosway built a new mill on Weir’s Creek.  The preservation

in the library of Cornelius G. Kolff of Dissosway’s receipt book enables us

to copy some of the items of cost in building that mill as follows:

June 9, 1800, Abraham Miller, work done on the mill

Jan 12, 1802, Daniel Mellon, work done on the mill

Mch. 26, 1802, Jacob Winant, 1000 shingles

Sep. 29, 1802, Abraham Woglom, “Hire of a scow when we built the mill dam”

Nov. 23, 1802, Lewis Johnson, work done on the mill

Nov. 26, 1802, Thomas Avorn, 2500 hard brick and 400 soft brick

Feb. 22, 1803, William Wood, floodgates and putting in cogs

Mch. 14, 1803, William Skinner, work on new mill house

June 17, 1803, Joseph Wright, plank bought for the mill

Dec. 9, 1803, William Skinner, work done on flood gates

Apl. 14, 1806, Isaac Butler, for rum he had for building the mill (Leng and Davis

1930: 209).

Dissosway’s receipts for interest and principal show that he used loans to

finance the venture.  Miscellaneous receipts add insights into Dissosway’s

life.  In 1802 he paid one pound four shillings for “Schooling of Gabriel.”

Another receipt from 1802 was for one pound ten shilling to inoculate

three unnamed black children.  In 1815, he paid six dollars seventeen

shillings for “one Quarters tuition to Susan, Peter and Gabriel Dissosway”

(Leng and Davis 1930: 209).

Elsewhere in their publication, Leng and Davis credit Edward Weir (c1776

– 1858) of Dalkeith, Scotland with building Weir’s Mill starting in 1800.  His

wife Deborah was born around 1784 and died in 1860 (Leng and Davis

1930: 973).  It may be that Edward Weir built the mill, but it was initially

owned by the Dissosways.  Around the Revolutionary War it was owned

by Dissosway but operated by Gilbert Jackson, his wife, and a black male.
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In 1786 Cornelius Disosway  left the mill to his sons Cornelius and Israel.

By 1803 it was under the control of Cornelius (McMillen 1951:26-27).   In

the 1890s, Matthew Weir was the long-time owner operator of the mill on

Weir’s Creek (Joline 1950).

‘The story of Tide Mills which have existed since 1672 on Staten Island

constitutes an interesting subject which, however, it is difficult to trace completely.  From

“Staten Island Names, Ye Olde Names and Nicknames” the following may be identified:

Palmer’s, Dongran’s, or in more recent times, Bodine’s Mill on the north shore between

West New Brighton and Port Richmond; Mersereau’s or Charles Woods, or Olds Place

Millon Old Place Creek at the end of Washington Avenue; Jesse Bedell’s Mill at the

confluence of Wagner’s Creek with the Fresh Kill; Micheau’s or Bedell’s Mill on the Fresh

Kill near Richmond Avenue; Crocheron’s or Geib’s Mill at the head of Fresh Kill near

Richmond; Dissosway’s or Weir’s Mill on the Arthur Kill near Tottenville; Lake’s Mill at the

head of Great Kills reach by the Mill Road;…” (Leng and Davis 1930: 610-611).  The date

of erection is not known.  It was the only water powered grist mill ever to serve western

Staten Island.  A custom mill, because it was conveniently located on the Arthur Kill, it

serviced a wide area (McMillen 1951:25-26). 

3b) A. Cole and Sons, Lumber and Coal (Dripps 1872), Cole Bros. Lumber (Beers

1874), Cole Bros. Lumber Yard (Beers 1887), Cole Bros. (Jacob W., John T., and

Abram) (Standard Directory 1893), Cole Bros. coal and lumber (James T., Jacob

W., and Abram) (Standard Directory 1897, Cole Bros. Coal and Lumber

(Robinson 1898), Mill (Richmond 1913), Southern Shipping Co. (Bromley 1917),

Moran Towing and Transportation (Sanborn 1917a)

The progenitor of the Cole family in Staten Island was Abraham Cool or

Cole who bought land and cattle in 1683.  He received a land grant in the

Westfield section in 1685.  The Cole family has contributed many people

important in Staten Island history, as detailed in Clute (1877:356-357)

(Leng and Davis 1930: 877; see also Bayles 1887:513-515).  Abraham

Cole was the son of a sea-captain from Woodrow, Staten Island.  After a

career at sea, he established the coal and lumber business that would be

continued by his sons.  His wife was Ann M. Disosway, daughter of

Cornelius.  Their children included Cornelius (married to Harriet K.

Robinson) and Jacob (Bayles 1887:514-515). There were four successive

generations of Cole men named Abram.  It was the third Abram Cole who
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founded the lumber and coal business in the project area in 1857.   When

he passed on in 1876, the business went to his three sons, Abram (IV),

Jacob W. and James.  Abram Cole (IV) was a noted Republican town

official, serving for three years as Town Clerk and six years as Town

Supervisor.  In 1893 he was the youngest Supervisor ever, and the only

Republican, giving him the nickname of “lone star.”  He was married

Blanche Martin of Tottenville and had two sons, Ralph M. (born circa 1883

and Chester A. (born circa 1883) (A.V. Hubbell 1893).

The 1893 directory lists the Cole Bros. lumber dealers as Jacob W., John

T., and Abram.  Abram and Jacob W. are (residing?) at Riverside, while

John T. is at Mill road (The Standard Directory 1893:251-252).  The

subsequent directory listed Abram, James T. (instead of John T.), and

Jacob W. Cole with Cole Bros. coal and lumber dealers on Mill Road,

Richmond Valley, Tottenville Post Office.  James T. and Jacob W. are

individually listed at that address, while Abram is listed at Riverside Ave

(The Standard 1897). 

One 1917 map shows a complex of buildings at the end of Richmond

Valley Road.  They are owned by the Southern Shipping Company

(Bromley 1917; see Figure 19).  At this time the building, towing, and

repair of ships was the largest industry in the Tottenville area.  

The early fire insurance maps do not cover this part of Staten Island

(Sanborn 1878, 1885).  On the 1917 Sanborn, Plate 162 covers all the

project area, except, perhaps the northern edge.  There are two distinct

versions of this map at the History Archives of the Staten Island Museum.

Both have been updated, one appears to have had buildings added and

then covered over.  The version of the map thought to be earlier is

designated 1917a.  On the south end, it shows a complex of buildings

marked MORAN TOWING & TRANSPORTATION CO. BOAT REPAIRS,

WATCHMAN, NO CLOCK.    A small private road snakes its way down to

the site, which is supplied by an eight inch water pipe running parallel to

Richmond Valley Road.  The business has a large two-story frame

building marked “ENG.”, located about 450 feet (137.16m) west of Arthur

Kill Road.  Further west is a very small 1 ½ story building of unknown use.
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Just east of the ENG. building is a small two story office and a small,

unusual building marked “NOT USED” (see Figure 20).  These two small

buildings appear to be left over from the Cole Mill (Borough 1913; see

Figure 19).  Further east, about 250 feet (76.2m) from Arthur Kill Road is

a small office building with scales.  About 150 feet (45.7m) west of the

road is a small two story dwelling.  On the east is a one story addition,

presumably a front porch.  On the west is a one story addition (Sanborn

1917a:162; see Figure 20).

The second version of the 1917 Sanborn Fire Insurance map has taped

over the Moran Towing complex.  Beneath this cover the words “NOT IN

OPERATION” can be seen.  This indicates that this version was revised

at least twice.  Most of the buildings are removed (taped over) with only

the now vacant two story office and office with scales remaining (Sanborn

1917b).

The Moran Towing Company began with a single tugboat in New York City

in 1860.  It became the largest operator at this port and throughout the

east coast (Moran 2009).

By 1941, all major buildings had been removed from the project area,

since there were no photos taken by the WPA for the Tax records (WPA

1941).

In conjunction with the construction of Route 440 to the north, large

amounts of fill were added to the south end of the project area.  

4) About 150 feet west of Arthur Kill Road along the extension of  Richmond Valley

Road is a small 2 story dwelling.  On the east is a 1-story addition, presumably

a front porch.  On the west is a 1-story addition, presumably a shed (Sanborn

1917a)   

This structure is located in Area 2 and the house is shown on Figure 20.

5) Large house on Arthur Kill Road well north of Richmond Valley Road.  A Cole

(Beers 1874), A Cole Estate (Beers 1887),  A Cole Estate (Robinson 1898),
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unlabeled house and gravel driveway (Richmond 1913),  Mary F. Hilliard

(Robinson 1907),  (Bromley 1917), unlabeled main house and small dwelling with

garage on south end of tract near Richmond Valley Road (Sanborn 1917a)

This house and brick driveway, known as 4927 Arthur Kill Road, is the

only standing structure on the project property.  It is in Area 7.  It is seen

in Figures 12 to 20. 

6) Small house immediately northwest of the intersection of Arthur Kill Road and

Richmond Valley Road extension.  Mary F. Hilliard (#40) (Robinson 1907),

unlabeled house and garage (Sanborn 1917b) 

The ruins of the Mary Hilliard house lie in the southeast corner of the

property, in Area 7. 
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SENSITIVITY EVALUATION RECOMMENDATIONS

This sensitivity study has evaluated the Waterfront Commons project area.  The project

area may potentially preserve evidence of prehistoric use in its northern portion.  The

tract north of the historic location of the Totten/Starr house appears to have been

unused, other than for residential purposes.  The location of the east-west creek would

provide an ideal situation for prehistoric inhabitants to approach the Arthur Kill.  The

northernmost section, bordering the Outerbridge Crossing, probably has been too

disturbed for evidence of prehistoric activity to remain in situ.  The western section of the

former Dissosway property, behind the current plaza may also potentially have evidence

of prehistoric activity.  The southern end of the project area has had industrial activity

over the past three hundred years, so the probability of in situ prehistoric activities are

low.

The project area may potentially preserve subsurface evidence of historic activity in two

places.  The Totten/Starr residence in the northern section may still contain intact

features.  The Totten family appears a century after the Dissosways and Coles, circa

1765 in Staten Island records.  Their association with the area grew in importance, until

Tottenville was renamed in their honor.  The residential use of the central section of the

project area by the Dissosways, lies east of the project area boundary.  In the southern

part of the project area, industrial archaeology is a potential probability.  The presence

of a saw mill, started by the Dissosway family in 1700, was the only grist mill serving the

Tottenville area for 200 years.  The Cole Brothers lumber, coal and wood yard also

occupied the southern portion of the project area.

Phase 1B testing of the project area is recommended before the initiation of construction

in order to evaluate the subsurface of the project area for prehistoric and historic

potential.
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FIELD INVESTIGATIONS

Phase 1B fieldwork was initially carried out between October 20 and December 5, 2008.

Additional testing took place between July and December, 2013.   The first pedestrian

reconnaissance revealed a variety of challenges including thick vegetation and fill.  The

vicinity of the southeast end of the property had changed considerably since

Greenhouse Consultants conducted the first walkover survey in December, 2007.  In the

Fall of 2008, a construction company started a project to clean-up mud along the shores

of Weir’s Mill Creek.  They established a headquarters, staging areas, and haul roads

in and around the southeast corner of the project area.  Remains of a possible cover

structure along the former mill raceway that was photographed in 2007 was removed

2008 (see Photo 8).  

The Waterfront Commons project was subdivided into test Areas 1 through 7.

Independent grids were established in each Area.  Grids were typically aligned with

previously mapped linear features, like roads and fences (Figures 30 to 41).  All

measurements used the metric system. Phase 1B pedestrian reconnaissance survey

looked for anomalies and artifacts exposed on the surface.  This included soils exposed

in trails, tree falls, rodent burrows and eroded areas.  

Shovel tests were excavated at 15 meter (50 ft) intervals; each shovel test was assigned

grid coordinates.  In part of Area 1, where artifacts were found in adjacent 15m shovel

tests, a 5m (17 ft) grid was used.   In this case, the expanded grid tried to determine site

limits by expanding the grid until two shovel tests in a row without artifacts were

completed.  An additional 194 supplemental shovel tests were dug in Area 1.  In Area

2, where a lone shovel test included a Precontact artifact, eight supplemental shovel

tests were completed.  In Area 7, where there was a nineteenth century house and a

twentieth century house ruin, shovel tests were placed at 7.5m (25 ft.) intervals around

the house and ruin.  Shovel Tests (STs) measured about 30 centimeters on a side.  Soil

textures were determined using a flow chart diagram.  Soil colors were determined with

the aid of a Munsell Soil Color Chart. Shovel test soil descriptions are included in the

Field Summary (Appendix 4).  Recovered artifacts are listed in the Artifact Inventory.

All shovel test material was screened through ¼ inch mesh hardware cloth.  All

excavations were promptly refilled.  A total of 274 STs were completed in the initial 15m

grid at Waterfront Commons.



-34-

Backhoe trenches were selectively used to examine depth of fill, examine site

stratigraphy, and probe for features.  Size and depth of the trenches varied with

conditions, discoveries, and depth of fill.  One backhoe trench was completed in Area

2, one in Area 4 and two in Area 5.

The format for numbering contexts from the Waterfront Commons project is the Site

abbreviation (WAT) is followed by the xxxx.xx, which represents the Context Number.

The two digits to the right of the decimal are used only as needed to refer to strata within

a context. The four digits to the left of the decimal point are the base code. The four

digits numeric base code is divided into two parts; the first digit and the last three. The

first digit of the base code indicates the type of field investigation used. The codes are

as follows:

1. unprovenienced surface collection

2. provenienced surface collection

3. shovel test

4. backhoe trenches

5. excavation units

6. feature excavation

The three digits which follow the technique code are unique for each location and are

assigned sequentially. Decimal subdivisions may be used for techniques three, five and

six to indicate specific strata. For example, 3001.02 refers to shovel test (3) number 1

(001), layer 2 (.02). 

Area 1

Test Area 1 is located on the north end of the Waterfront Commons property.  The

Outerbridge Crossing property is on the north, Arthur Kill Road is to the east, a medical

complex and Area 5 are to the south, and the shores of the Arthur Kill are to the west.

Area 1 is up to 100m (330 ft) long (north – south) and 300m (990 ft) wide.  

The grid in Area 1 was oriented to Arthur Kill Road (see Figures 29, 30 and 31).  A

stream and associated wetlands were present along the south side of Area 1.  An active

paved parking lot occupies the southeast end, near the medical complex.  Most of Area

1 is covered by successional forest, with the largest trees about 6 to 12 inches (15 to

30cm) in diameter.  The understory was particularly thick and difficult to survey;
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dominant plants included catbrier and poison ivy.  Thick stands of Phragmites reeds are

present in the wetter sections.

There were 85 initial 15m (50 ft) interval shovel tests completed in Area 1 (ST1 – 35 and

208 – 255) (see Photo 12, Figure 30).  Precontact lithic artifacts were found in ST4 , 35,

210, 211, 212, 219, 221, 223, 230, and 239.  A total of 17 lithics were recovered from

these 10 tests.  Many of the shovel tests had profiles capped with a stratum or two of

fill, as exemplified by Shovel Test 34.

ST 34 N105 E210

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts Interpretations

0-6 Sandy loam dark brown NCM Fill

6-30 Loamy sand red NCM Fill

30-53 Sand brown  NCM Ap

53-70 Sand brownish yellow NCM B

NCM = No Cultural Material

Profiles with fill were common close to the bridge.  Others had truncated profiles, with

fill capping a culturally sterile C.  Some, like Shovel Test 35, had intact, natural profiles.

ST 35 N90 E210

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts Interpretations

0-10 Sandy loam v dk grayish brown clam frags* Ao

10-40 Sand brown  3 flakes Ap

40-70 Sand brownish yellow NCM B

* = discarded NCM = No Cultural Material

Except for ST230 and ST239, all the Precontact lithics from the preliminary 15m shovel

tests came from topsoil (likely plowzone) contexts.  Shovel Test 230 had a flake in an

A horizon beneath 23cm of fill.  Shovel Test 239 had a flake in a B horizon.
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ST 239 N60 E60

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts Interpretations

0-7 Silty loam very dark brown NCM Ao

7-47 Loamy sand strong brown NCM Ap

47-66 Sandy clay loam brown  1 flake B

There was a fair amount of modern trash and debris in Area 1, especially in the areas

closest to Arthur Kill Road and the Outerbridge Crossing.  This included modern bottle

glass, nails, and other construction materials.  

Historic material was recovered from a number of Area 1 tests including (from east to

west) yelloware in Shovel Test 19, creamware in Shovel Test 21 on the east side of the

area.  Bone and shell were in ST208, and olive wine bottle glass in Shovel Test 210, in

one of the locations where Precontact material was also found.  In the northwest side

of Area 1, a kaolin pipe bowl fragment was found in Shovel Test 237, white salt-glazed

stoneware (which dates from the early 1700s) and porcelain came from Shovel Test

242.  A wide assortment were found in Shovel Test 244. North Devon Gravel Temper

ware (c1675 – 1725) came from Shovel Test 246, along with a possible rosehead nail,

clam, and oyster shell.

GCI returned to Area 1 in 2013 and reestablished the grid using pin flags installed in

2008.  The understory was particularly thick and difficult to survey; dominant plants

included catbrier and poison ivy.  GCI hacked about 900m (2970 ft) of survey lines in

this session.

Two parts of Area 1 were subjected to supplemental Phase 1B shovel testing.  An

intermittent drainage channel from the Outerbridge Crossing divides the project area into

an east and a west section.  East of the streambed, two shovel tests produced

distinctive early historic ceramics.  West of the streambed, eight shovel tests yielded

Precontact lithics (one grouping of four shovel tests, one grouping of three shovel tests,

and one isolated shovel test) (see Figures 30 and 31).  

A number of initial Phase 1B shovel tests had artifacts and would have been further

investigated except that they are in locations where no impacts are slated with the 2013

design.  These include ST4, ST239, ST242, ST244, ST246 and ST250.  Since the 2014

project design changes, these locations are now within the Area of Potential Effect

(APE), they need to be subjected to further field investigations. 
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East of the streambed, eight shovel tests were excavated around ST21 (N105E255),

which held creamware.  ST426 to ST432 were excavated at 5m (16.5 ft) intervals in the

four cardinal directions from Shovel Test 21 (see Figure 31).  A few fragments of

ironstone and porcelain were found along with rusted metal and plastic were found

(Appendix 3).  These tests were wet, with many reaching the water table. No features

or artifact concentrations were found.  

Also east of the streambed in Area 1, Shovel Test 19 (N75E255) was 30m (100 ft) south

of Shovel Test 21 and yellowware ceramics were found here.  Supplemental testing by

seven shovel tests (ST434 to ST440) recovered both modern trash and historic artifacts,

along with a flake in Shovel Test 437 (see Figure 31).  No features or artifact

concentrations were noted.

Following preliminary shovel testing, the eastern four shovel tests with Precontact

artifacts (ST35, ST210, ST211, and ST212) were called Site 1 while the three positive

shovel tests just to the west were initially called Site 2.  Shovel testing at these locations

and at Shovel Test 230 further west, attempted to evaluate the locations by creating a

5m (16.5 ft) grid of shovel tests.  This testing attempted to set site boundaries by

creating two adjacent negative shovel tests in all directions.  A total of 179 additional

shovel tests were excavated (ST275 to ST425 and 441 to 454) (see Photos 13, 14, and

15; Figure 31). 

  

These subsequent tests link the three locations into a single Precontact archaeological

site, dubbed the Catbriar Site.  About half of the tests held Precontact finds, as shown

in Figure 30.  The most common finds were chert flakes and fire-cracked rock (FCR).

An intact hearth, including many pounds of FCR and a chopper was found in Shovel

Test 313 (N65 E185) (see Photo 16).  Native American pottery was found in eight shovel

tests.  Four were clustered in a 15m circle in the center of the site (ST 331, ST358,

ST362, and ST410).  One prehistoric ceramic shovel test (ST343) was 20m (66 ft)

northwest, and one (ST325) was 20m to the east.  The other two were in isolated spots

in the northeast (ST384) and east (ST459).  

The vast majority of the Precontact finds were found in contexts within the top 40cm (1.3

ft), in a strata considered to be a plowzone.  Shell was found in many tests, presumably

in both historic and Precontact contexts.  Shovel Test 303 (N75 E190) has a thin shell

deposit at 40cm (1.3 ft), indicating a possible shell midden.  
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The Catbriar Site, as defined through shovel testing extends from the drainage channel

at E230 west a distance of 145m to Shovel Test 447 at E85.  The eastern third of the

site extends the full distance from the marsh at N46 to the Outerbridge Crossing

Property at N104, a distance of 58m.  The middle third of the site is about 25m from

south to north, while the western third is between 10 and 25m from north to south.  This

yields a total site area of about 4,900 square meters.  A Prehistoric Archaeological Site

Inventory Form for the Catbriar is included as Appendix 5.

Area 2

Area 2 comprises much of the southern part of Waterfront Commons.  Area 6 is to the

north, Area 4 is to the northeast, to the east is a residence (see Figure 29).  In 2008, a

Weir’s Mill Creek pollution clean-up project headquarters was located in the east end

of Areas 2 and 3.  Area 3 and Weir’s Mill Creek are to the south, and the Arthur Kill is

to the west.  It measures up to 180m (600 ft) long and up to 180m (600 ft) wide.  Small

piles of fill, debris, and concrete pieces occur sporadically throughout much of Area 2.

A huge pile of fill, up to 5m (16.5 ft) high, is present on the south edge of Area 2.  

A total of 101 shovel tests in a 15m (50 ft) grid were initially completed in Area 2 (ST36

– 134, 140, and 141) (see Photos 17 and 18; Figure 32 ).   Soils here were radically

different to those in Area 1.  Sand was absent.  Most of the shovel tests gave evidence

of reddish fill; much of it was rich in clay.  Most soils were extremely compact and

difficult to penetrate, even when a pick was used.  The profile of Shovel Test 80 shows

deep fill.

ST80 N180 E80

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts Interpretations

0-5 Silt loam brown glass, nail Fill

5-27 Sandy clay loam weak red NCM     Fill

27-56 Sandy clay weak red NCM Fill

NCM = No Cultural Material

Artifacts were mostly twentieth century bottle glass, brick and shell.  Porcelain, ironstone

and stoneware ceramics were also found in the shovel testing.   One test (ST109) had

a jasper flake.in the second strata.
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ST109 N135E80

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts Interpretations

0-32 Clay loam brown NCM Fill

32-63 Clay loam brown mixed w/ jasper flake Fill

y. brown and gray glass

NCM = No Cultural Material

Eight (8) supplemental shovel tests were excavated around Shovel Test 109 (ST534 to

ST541) (Figure 32; see Photo 19). They were placed at distances of 1m and 3m in the

cardinal directions.  None produced Precontact artifacts; only modern material was

found.  This material included a modern Lincoln cent, along with plastic, and macadam.

This area is considered disturbed fill.  No further shovel testing in this location is

recommended.

 

A single backhoe trench, BT3 was excavated in the middle of the proposed extension

of Richmond Valley Road in order to test for deep fill  (see Figure 33).  It was about

130m (429 ft.) to 140m (462 ft) from Arthur Kill Road. 

The trench was 10m long, 1.5m wide, and 3.1m deep.  There was clear evidence of

deep industrial fill, and obsolete utility lines .  There were two copper utility lines, a 1-

inch line at 1.3m and a 2-inch line at 2.8m deep. The entire profile consisted of fill; no

natural stratum was found. No artifacts were recovered in Backhoe Trench 3. A column

profile was recorded (see Photos 20 and 21).

BT3

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts Interpretations

0-40 Loamy sand brown NCM Fill

40-100 Loamy sand dark red NCM Fill

100-210 Sand pale brown Cu pipe @ 2.00 Fill

210-230 Sand brown mixed w/ NCM Fill

lt y brown

230-300 Sand dk greyish brown Cu pipe @ 2.80 Fill

300-310 Sand dk y brown NCM Fill

NCM = No Cultural Material

Informants indicate that much of Area 2 and Area 3 was blanketed with fill during the

construction of Route 440.  Clearly the vicinity of Backhoe Trench 3 confirms the boring
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data discussed later in this report, which documents the presence of deep fill in much

of Area 2. 

Area 3

Area 3 is at the south end of Waterfront Commons.  Area 2 is to the north, Weir’s Mill

Creek is to the south and east, and the Arthur Kill is to the west.  It measures up to 30m

(100 ft) from north to south, and up to 120m (400 ft) from east to west.   There are pier

remains at the southwestern tip of the project area (see Photo 7; Figure 29).  Fill,

including large chunks of concrete, is prominent throughout most of this area (see Photo

22).  

Nine shovel tests were dug in Area 3 (ST142 – 150) (see Photo 23; Figure 34).  All

these profiles appear to be composed of fill, like Shovel Test 145 shown below.

Excavation was difficult because of the presence of concrete slab fragments within the

fill.  

ST145

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts Interpretations

0-2 Silt loam v dk grayish brown NCM Fill

2-25 Sandy clay brown plastic*, coal* Fill

25-51 Sandy clay dark brown plastic* Fill

51-74 Loamy sand strong brown NCM Fill

* = discarded NCM = No Cultural Material

Modern cultural material was present throughout the profiles, including plastic trash and

macadam.   The shovel testing in Area 3 was completed in 2008, before the project was

redesigned to lessen environmental impacts.  With the new 2014 design, Area 3 will be

included as part of the APE, and will need further field investigation (see Figure 34).

Area 4

Area 4 is on the southeast end of Waterfront Commons.  The beverage distributor is to

the north, the veterinary medical complex and residence are to the east, the construction

headquarters is to the south, and Areas 2 and 6 are to the west.  It has an irregular

shape with extensions in the northwest and southeast.   Including the southern

extension, it measures is up to 180m (600 ft) from south to north, and up to 90m (300

ft) from east to west.  The grid was aligned to the veterinary complex fence (see Figures

29 and 35).
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The southeast wing of Area 4 is included within the former Cole Brothers Lumber mill

lot.  There is a man-made ditch which cuts through the parcel and continues through the

edge of the property to the east.  This is likely a raceway, which might have channeled

water from Weir’s Mill Creek to the sawmill seat.  Near the northern terminus of this ditch

there are two berms extending north from the higher ground.  They each measure about

30m (100 ft) long.  The eastern berm is very regular in profile; it is about 1m (3.3 ft) high

and 4 meters (13.2 ft) wide (see Photo 24).  The western berm is less regular in shape.

Because it was considered a possible Mill Seat, it was tested with a backhoe trench, as

discussed below.    About 20m to the northeast is a huge piece of old, riveted iron,

possibly the remains of a steam boiler, labeled Riveted Iron on the site map (see Figure

35; Photo 25).  Other surface finds that may be related to the industrial concern include

a large block of concrete and an iron machinery piece, both located on higher ground

east of the berms.  

Area 4 was covered in successional forest and thick catbrier understory.  The northern

part, formerly the pond bed, was covered in Phragmites reeds.  

A total of 18 shovel tests were completed in Area 4 (ST151 – 155, 256 – 263, and 269

– 274) (see Figure 35; Photo 24).  Those tests in the low areas near the berms were

shallow because water was encountered.  Most of the others had typical intact profiles,

like Shovel Test 256.

ST 256 N215 E100

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts Interpretations

0-7 Sandy loam very dark brown Tile, glass Ao

7-34 Loamy sand dark yellowish brown NCM A

34-55 Sand yellowish brown NCM B

Other profiles had intact strata blanketed by fill.  Shovel Test 274 was located within the

eastern berm.  It revealed 89cm of sandy fill; a fragment of coal was the lone find (see

Photo 24).  Artifacts in Area 4 were all relatively modern, possibly indicating recent fill

deposits.

Backhoe Trench BT4 was a large trench that was planned to investigate the internal

section of  a suspected mill seat (see Figure 36, Photos 26 and 27).  It was located in

a flat area between the berms and at the base of the slope.  The original northern

section of the trench was set at a 45-degree angle to the western berm.  This end of the
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trench was 6m long by 1.5m wide and 2.0m deep.  There were four alternating strata of

clay loam and sand.  All these are fill. 

BT 4 NW  

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts Interpretations

0-10 Clay loam very dark grayish brown NCM Fill

10-40 Loamy sand light gray mixed with NCM Fill

Brownish yellow

40-95 Clay loam dark grayish brown NCM Fill

95-200 Sand brownish yellow  NCM Fill

NCM = No Cultural Material

There was a 6-inch terra cotta pipe with its top at 90cm on the east side of the trench.

The lack of an apparent pipe trench indicates it was installed in conjunction with deep

fill.   Backhoe Trench 4 followed this pipeline  9.75m south into the toe of the slope.  No

artifacts were found. The way the two-foot sections of pipe were laid show that the flow

of the pipeline was from north to south.  This might mean that a pond or other source

to the north supplied water to an unknown location to the south of Backhoe Trench 2.

Clearly there was a substantial amounts of soil moved around in the later years of

industrial development and use of the site.  

Area 5

Area 5 is on the west side of the project area (see Figures  29 and 37).  Area 1 is to the

north, the medical complex and beer distributor are to the east, Area 6 is to the south,

and the Arthur Kill is to the west.  It extends up to 120m (400 ft) from south to north.

Most of it is about 105m (350 ft) wide, except the north end, which extends to the east

and is 195m (650 ft) wide.  The northeast end includes a gravel-covered parking lot.

Small, dump truck-sized piles of fill and debris occur over much of Area 5.  Macadam

fill predominates in the area just west of the parking lots of the adjacent businesses.

There is a causeway-like feature, built of debris and concrete pipe fragments extending

east to west through the northwest end of Area 5.  Another raised, dike-like ridge of fill

extends north-south along the shore of the Arthur Kill.  It runs between the Kill and a

marsh on the north end.  The grid was oriented along the fences of the business’

parking lots.  

A soils scientist discovered a quartz projectile point on the surface at an unspecified

location in Area 5; it was designated Context #1001 (Appendix 3).
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There were 52 shovel tests completed in Area 5 (ST156 – 207) (see Figure 37; Photo

28).  Many of the tests had profiles entirely of fill, including ST171 -174, 176, 181 - 183,

188, 189, 193 and 205.  Others like Shovel Test 168 had historic artifact bearing strata

beneath layers of fill.

ST 168 N140 E185

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts Interpretations

0-7 Sandy loam dark brown NCM Fill

7-18 Sandy clay loam red NCM Fill

18-34 Sand dark yellowish brown shell*, ceramic, brick* Fill

34-60 Sand brown shell, glass, coal*, A

metal, ceramic

60-107 Sand yellowish brown ceramic, coal* B

Six Area 5 tests produced a single flake each.  ST164, 166, 168 and 196 occur in one

cluster.  ST171 and 191 are isolated discoveries.  The historic material was fairly

widespread in the southwest side of Area 5.  Historic material was recovered from many

tests, including ST163, 166, 168, 169, and 170   on the east, ST165 in the south, ST195

on the west, and ST171, 173, and 190 on the north (see Figure 37)

Two backhoe tests were excavated in the southeast part of Area 5, Backhoe Trench 1

and Backhoe Trench 2 (see Figure 38).  Backhoe Trench 1 was 11m long by 1.5m wide,

and was 82cm deep (see Photo 29).  Brick, glass, ceramics, and glass were recovered

from the top two strata.  Soils in Backhoe Trench 1 are largely natural, no noticeable fill

is present (see Photos 29 and 30). An unmarked brick recovered in the backfill was the

lone find.

  

BT 1 N144 E178 

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts Interpretations

0-26 Silt loam dark brown brick, glass Fill

26-66 Sand w/ coal ash pale brown brick, glass, ceramic A

66-82 Sand yellowish brown NCM B

82-123 Silt w/ shale yellowish red       NCM C

Backhoe Trench 2 was south of Backhoe Trench 1 and was shorter: it measured 4.5m

long by 1.5m wide and 1.19m deep.  The south half of Backhoe Trench 2 had an intact

profile with intact A, B and C horizons.  The north half of Backhoe Trench 2 was

disturbed in recent years, as evidenced by a modern beverage bottle very deep in the

top stratum (see Photo 31).
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BT 2 north N120 E176

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts Interpretations

 0-83 Sandy loam dark reddish brown stoneware, whiteware Fill

beer bottle*, brick*, coal*

83-110 Sand brown NCM Fill

110-119 Silt w/ shale reddish brown NCM C

Area 6

Area 6 is on the west side of the project area.  Areas 4 and 5 are to the north, Area 4

is to the east, Area 2 is to the south, and the Arthur Kill is to the west.  From south to

north it extends up to 90m (300 ft), and it is up to 120m (400 ft) wide.  Wetlands

dominate the core of Area 6 (see Figures 29 and 39).  This reed swamp shows as a

pond on maps from early in the twentieth century (e.g. Richmond, Borough of 1913,

Figure 18).

There were 10 shovel tests completed in Area 6 (ST135 – 139 and 264 – 268)

(Appendix 4; see Figure 39).  Many were shallow because they encountered water.

Others like Shovel Test 266 were deeper, but also reached water.

ST266

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts  Interpretations

0-6 Sandy loam very dark brown NCM Fill

6-93 Sand yellowish brown NCM Fill

Water @ 91

Area 7

Area 7 is the property added in 2013 to the southeast end of Waterfront Commons

project area.  The veterinary medical complex is to the north, Arthur Kill Road is to the

east, and Areas 2 and 4 are to the west (see Figure 29).  It measures is up to 113m (375

ft) from south to north, and up to 83m (275 ft) from east to west.   It includes the

nineteenth century Greek Revival Style Abram Cole House (4927 Arthur Kill Road) and

a corner parcel with building ruins (probably built by Mary C. Hilliard).  Shovel testing

followed current guidelines and included shovel tests in a 7.5m (25 ft) grid near the

house and ruins, and a 15m grid elsewhere (Figure 40; see Photo 32). 
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The Cole house has a red brick driveway and brick walkways that surround the house

(and limited shovel testing) (see Photos 33 and 34). Some of these bricks are impressed

or embossed with maker's marks. Embossed bricks include AMERICAN, RICHMOND,

AWK,(see Photo 35) and PECK.  Some are embossed with a diamond design.  A few

are embossed backwards with the letters JCR, BS and JST.  A few are impressed S&F

from the Sayre and Fisher brickyards in Sayerville, New Jersey.  A 1913 map shows a

gravel driveway north of the house (see Figure 18), supplying a no earlier than 1913

date for the driveway.

There is a well house with a functioning well on the northeast side of the Cole house

(see Photo 34). South of the house are landscaping features, including one landscape

terrace that incorporates a huge mill stone. Half of this huge stone was exposed (see

Photo 36).  It would have been used to grind grain, probably in the Cole/Disosway

families’ mill.  This could be the millstone used as a doorstep in a local report (McMillen

1951).  Another feature incorporates plastic drainpipes that end in a stone enclosure that

could be a fish pond.   A concrete pad in the backyard is likely a removed twentieth

century outbuilding or guest house. 

A total of 64 shovel tests were completed in Area 7 (ST469 to ST533) (see Figure 40).

Most produced artifacts from the nineteenth and/or twentieth centuries.   The profiles

were evenly split between those with natural profiles and those with profiles consisting

mostly of fill.  Shovel Test 489, like most of the tests in the rear of the Cole house, had

a natural profile.

ST489  N122E85

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts  Interpretations

0-30 Sandy loam brown Glass, ceramics, coal ash*, A

Modern glass

30-66 Sand yellowish brown NCM B

*= discarded NCM= No Cultural Material

Also in the rear yard of the Cole house, a terra cotta drain pipe, running north/south,

was found at 15cm in Shovel Test 481 (see Photo 37).  Many of the shovel tests,

including many of those in the southeast corner of Area 7, had profiles consisting

entirely of fill, or fill over natural profiles.  Shovel Test 500 had fill over a truncated

natural profile.
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ST500  N62.5E70

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts  Interpretations

0-53 Sandy loam brown Brick*, ceramics, coal*, glass Fill

53-69 Sand light brown NCM C

*= discarded NCM= No Cultural Material

In the southeast corner of Area 7, at the corner of Arthur Kill Road and Richmond Valley

Road, are the ruins of a house built circa 1912 - 1917. There is an exposed concrete

slab on grade floor that is about 12 ft (3.6m) wide and over 25ft (7.5m) long (see Figure

35, Photo 38).  Remains of walkways built of concrete blocks are present west and north

of the concrete floor.   There is a chain link fence that runs through this foundation, likely

added by the pollution clean up project five or six years ago.  In addition to the house

remains, the remains of a vaulted brick cistern or well was partially exposed (see Photo

39). The well looks like it might have been looted years ago. 

Maps show a garage was added to the rear of the property sometime after 1917.

Shovel Test 503 located a possible cement floor at 60cm, and this is probably the

garage floor (see Photo 40)

ST503  N62.5 E67.5

Depth Soil type Color Artifacts  Interpretations

0-8 Sand reddish brown Plastic, modern glass Fill

8-23 Loamy sand dark yellowish brown NCM Fill

23-34 Loam dark yellowish brown NCM Fill

34-60 Loamy sand dark yellowish brown NCM Fill

60+ Concrete floor
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ARTIFACT ANALYSIS

Laboratory Methodology

The artifacts recovered from the Phase 1B field work at the Waterfront Commons

project area, Staten Island, New York were returned to the Greenhouse Consultants

laboratory for processing.  The cultural material was washed at room temperature tap

water, dried, marked and catalogued.  The drying procedure consisted of slow air drying

on screens.  The artifacts were labeled with their appropriate context number.

Artifacts were identified using a modified form of the Cultural Material Data Base

Taxonomy of the National Park Service.  Artifacts were coded for their functional group,

class and material.  Technological and stylistic manufacturing ranges were assigned

when an artifact exhibited a datable attribute.  Establishing the range of manufacture of

artifacts provides a time frame for establishing dates after which the refuse deposits

were made.  This information was recorded on a tyvek label which was inserted with the

artifact into a clear polyethylene ziplock bag.  The bags were also labeled with context

and catalog numbers.

Subsequent to cataloguing, the information from all artifacts with their appropriate codes

were inventoried using a relational database software, which provides sorted inventory

lists for contexts and artifact groups.

Contexts were assigned series numbers in accordance to the type of data recovery

method.  Shovel testing is identified by the 3000 series and backhoe trenching by the

4000 series.

Phase 1B Analysis

A total of 2339 artifacts were recovered and returned to the laboratory from six of the

seven archaeological areas.  Material observed in shovel tests that were either sampled

or discarded in the field include shell, modern glass, and other debris.  The following

table shows the distribution of artifacts among the seven archaeological areas:
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Table 3   Artifact Summary

Area Total

1 1156

2 167

3 10

4 18

5 573

6 0

7 415

Total 2339

The Cultural Material Data Base Taxonomy structures artifact assemblages by functional

group: Groups 1 through 9 are historically related and Group 10 is prehistoric.  Group

1 is kitchen related, Group 2 is floral/faunal, Group 3 is architectural, Group 4 is

furnishings, Group 5 is weapons, Group 6 is clothing related, Group 7 is personal, Group

8 is tobacco related, and Group 9 is activities.  Group 98 is miscellaneous.

Area 1

A total of 1156 artifacts were recovered from the shovel tests excavated in Area 1.

Group 1 artifacts included bottle and container glass, and ceramics which included

ironstone, redware, creamware, pearlware, stoneware, and North Devon Gravel

Tempered.  Bone, oyster and clam shell composed Group 2.  Nails, brick and flat glass

composed Group 3.  Tobacco pipe fragments composed Group 8.  The historic artifacts

found in Area 1 span the colonial era to the twentieth century, starting at ca. 1675.

Modern trash was found in shovel tests close to Arthur Kill Road.

Group 10 constitutes prehistoric artifacts.  Class 1 consists of artifacts used in hunting

and fishing activities.  Class 2 consists of artifacts used in domestic activities, such as

cooking and food preparation.  Class 3 includes artifacts used to make stone tools, and

can be stone tools themselves.  Wood-working tools compose Class 4 and are used for

crafting objects from wood as well as marking trails or clearing underbrush.  Digging

tools comprise Class 5 and are associated with activities such as subsistence farming.
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Other fabricated and processing tools reside in Class 6.  These tools serve a variety of

purposes including incising, drilling, sewing and other activities.  Class 7 is a category

containing general utility tools.  Many of the stone tools in this category are associated

with food processing, especially meat, and preparation of skins, pelts and furs.

Ceremonial and ornamental objects form Class 8.  Their significance lies in body

ornamentation or use in ritual. 

The prehistoric artifacts of Group 10 totaled 390 objects, composing of nearly one-third

of the artifacts recovered from Area 1.  Fire-cracked rock composed a large portion of

the prehistoric assemblage along with tools such as a core, biface, chopper, tested

pieces, primary flakes, secondary flakes and prehistoric pottery.

Class 3 is composed of tools used to manufacture other tools and artifacts that are

byproducts of stone tool manufacturing.  Tested pieces are rocks of chert, flint, quartzite

or some other acceptable material which could be used to manufacture a stone tool.

A tested piece usually exhibits one or two flake scars, as though stone tool makers had

assessed the quality of the rock before proceeding further.  Features a stone toolmaker

looks for in a rock are:  homogeneity, hardness and low resistance to fracture.

Homogeneity is an important asset because the energy from a hammerstone or a

pressure flaker needs to be dissipated regularly throughout the rock.  In other words,

flaws such as cracks or inclusions, make raw material structurally unsound for a tool.

A dull sound from a hammerstone striking raw material indicates the rock is not

homogeneous while a ringing sound does.  Therefore, the absence of one or two flakes

from a piece of raw material may indicate that it was "tested" for its quality and

subsequently was abandoned.  Two tested pieces were found in Area 1, from Context

3316.03, made on chert, and from Context 3382.02, made from quartzite.

A core is raw material, suitable for stone tool manufacture, which exhibits a striking

platform(s) and a pattern of flake scar removal.  Flakes which are removed from cores

can be made into tools or the core itself may be modified into a heftier tool, such as a

chipped stone axe.  Exhausted cores may also be used as they are in  the form of

hammerstones.  One core composed of quartz was found in Context 3212.02.

A primary flake is a spall from the outside of the core.  Rock undergoes mechanical and

chemical weathering throughout its existence.  As a result, the outer surface of the rock

exhibits a sheen (patina) or rind (cortex).  The first layer of flakes removed from a core
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therefore will have cortex or patina on their dorsal surface.  The presence of cores and

primary flakes at a site are indicative of the initial stages of stone tool manufacturing.

Primary flakes can be modified into scraper or knives with the cortex serving as a natural

handle for grasping the tool.  Four primary flakes were found in Area 1.

A secondary flake can result from several activities.  One activity is when a flake is

removed from a core after the initial layer of flakes.  A secondary flake may also result

from shaping the tool through subsequent stages of manufacture.  Third, a secondary

flake can be a byproduct of resharpening a stone tool.  Since secondary flakes are

removed from the interior of the core, they exhibit a minimal amount of cortex but in

most cases, none at all.  A site containing secondary flakes with few or no primary flakes

or cores can be interpreted as a place where the initial stages of stone tool

manufacturing were conducted elsewhere.  In this scenario, the inhabitants were

completing their stone tools, after roughly forming them at the stone quarries.  A site

yielding only small resharpening flakes can be interpreted as the result of people using

stone tools to butcher and process food and skins.  As stone tools are used, the working

edge grows dull and subsequently they need to be resharpened in order to complete

tasks.  There were 91 secondary flakes found in Area 1 shovel tests.  

Flakes, both primary and secondary, and cores which are discarded during stone tool

production are referred to as debitage.  Other byproducts include chunks and shatter

which are large and small, respectively, angular pieces of lithic material.  Chunks and

shatter have random flake scars and usually result when the stone is dried out from

weathering or is not homogeneous.  The flakes found in Area 1 were made of jasper

(25), chert (63), chalcedony (1), and argillite (2).

Class 7 tools are described other general utility tools.  Tools subsumed under this

classification could be described as multifunctional in nature, such as scrapers and

knives.  A second type of tool is expediency tools which are artifacts which were never

finished but had enough of a working edge that could be used to scrape, cut or chop

something.  Utilized flakes and bifaces are examples of such artifacts.  A biface is an

artifact exhibiting flake scars on the dorsal and ventral surface (Crabtree 1972:38).  A

biface is a result of either Stage II, III or IV in the lithic reduction sequence, depending

upon the degree of edge preparation, shaping, thinning and finishing.  A biface is not a

finished tool.  However, it can be used as a tool, in case the need arises.  A Stage II

biface could function in a heavy duty maintenance task, such as chopping.  A Stage III
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or IV biface with the appropriate degree of edge thinness could be used for slicing or

cutting.  The same scenario could exist for scraping tasks.  One biface was found in

Context 3210.02, composed of chert.

Prehistoric ceramics were found in nine shovel tests.  The number of prehistoric

ceramics found in Area 1 totaled 42.  Eight of the tests contained one to four pieces of

pottery (Contexts 3324.02, 3331.02, 3343.02, 3358.02, 3362.02, 3375.02, 3410.02 and

3459.02).  One test, Context 3384.02, contained 27 sherds of prehistoric ceramics.

Many of the sherds were decorated on the exterior with cord marking, fabric

impressions, incised, and/or punctated. 

Area 2

The number of artifact found in 52 shovel tests totaled 167.  Group 1 artifacts included

bottle and container glass, a drinking glass, porcelain, ironstone and stoneware.  Group

2 included oyster and clam shells.  The architectural group included a drainpipe, nails,

flat glass, brick and tile.  The furnishings group included a broken mirror, flowerpot and

a handle.  Group 7 included a turnkey, embossed “TAIWAN”, probably to a clock, a

tarnished U.S. penny and a tarnished coin which was not an United States coin.  The

historic artifacts date from the late nineteenth into the twentieth century.  A primary flake

composed of jasper was found in Shovel Test 109, context 3109.02.  Part of the cortex

was on the flake.

Area 3

Ten artifacts were recovered from three shovel tests.  They included container glass,

oyster shell and a drainpipe.  These artifacts are probably twentieth century in origin.

Area 4

Eighteen artifacts were found in six shovel tests.  Glass artifacts included bottle, jar and

container glass, and flat glass.  Tile, linoleum and metal were also found.  One piece of

an ironstone body sherd was also found.  These artifacts are probably twentieth century

in origin.
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Area 5

A total of 573 artifacts were found in the two trenches and 33 shovel tests.  Some shovel

tests included up to five layers of artifacts, some tests yielding up to 182 artifacts in a

test.  Group 1 included container, bottle, jar and tableware glass.  Ceramics included

ironstone, redware, creamware, stoneware, porcelain, yellowware, pearlware, combed

slipware and two pieces of delftware.  Group 2 consisted of bone, oyster and clam shell.

The architectural group included concrete, nails, flat glass, brick, tile and drainpipe.  The

bowl of a tobacco pipe was also found.  The historic artifacts span the time from the late

seventeenth century to the early twentieth century.  Prehistoric artifacts included two

secondary flakes, three primary flakes and the mid-section of a quartz projectile point.

The flakes were composed of jasper or chert.

Area 6

No artifacts were recovered from the shovel tests.

Area 7

A total of 415 artifacts were recovered from 54 shovel tests.  Group 1 artifacts included

porcelain, ironstone, redware and yellowware.  Bottle glass, container glass and

tableware glass were present.  Group 2 consisted of clam and oyster shell and bone.

Group 3 included nails, flat glass, brick, drainpipe and mortar.  Group 4 consisted of

flowerpot fragments.  Tobacco pipes were represented by an amber mouthpiece and a

floral embossed pipe bowl.  Many of the artifacts, particularly the glass, had been

subjected to intense heat, as documented by the house fire at this location.  The

artifacts are nineteenth and twentieth century in origin.
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The artifact assemblages from the archaeological areas is shown in the following table

in functional groups.

Table 4  Artifacts by Functional Group

Area 1 Area 2 Area 3 Area 4 Area 5 Area 6 Area 7 Totals

Group 1 227 94 5 7 243 147 723

Group 2 317 15 4 90 52 478

Group 3 76 36 1 9 172 123 417

Group 4 10 4 7 13 34

Group 5 1 1

Group 6 1 2 3

Group 7 3 1 4

Group 8 4 1 2 7

Group 9 70 12 2 37 10 131

Group 98 61 2 13 66 142

Group 10 390 1 8 399

Totals 1156 167 10 18 573 0 415 2339
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DISCUSSION

Area 1

The Phase 1B survey discovered a large Precontact site, named the Catbrier Site after

the dominant vegetation.  The location of this site will be potentially impacted by

construction of wetland replacement areas for Waterfront Commons project area (Figure

36).  A Phase 2 study is recommended for this location.  The purpose of a Phase 2

study is to determine if the site is potentially significant, and is also used to set site

boundaries. The presence of datable ceramics and an in situ feature contribute to the

site’s potential significance.  During the Phase 1B survey, natural boundaries such as

the marsh or double negative shovel tests have set a portion of the site’s borders.  The

north border is set by the Outerbridge Crossing.  

A Phase 2 study of the Catbrier Site would include boundary defining shovel testing and

completion of a number of excavation units.  The excavation units are used to evaluate

the integrity of the site and its research potential, as well as recover or expose more

information in the form of features and artifacts.

Area 2

Through the analysis of boring data, GCI has attempted to determine depth of fill, and

analyzing the proposed plans to see if they will impact potentially intact buried stratum.

Extensive deep fill appears only in the southern part of the project area, designated

Areas 2 and 3.  Although there are clearly localized areas of fill in the northern and

central portions of the project area, they do not appear as large, deep, or as extensive

as in Areas 2 and 3.  With a few exceptions, most of the testing in Areas 1, 4, 5, and 7

reached culturally sterile subsoil.  

A local informant stated that deep fill was deposited in Area 2 during the construction

of Route 440.  Two independent sets of borings were completed in Areas 2 and 3.  A

series of 7 borings (B1 to B7) were completed (see Appendix 6), at intervals of about

150 feet along the proposed location of the west end of Richmond Valley Road.  Near

Arthur Kill Road, fill was 2.5 feet deep in Boring B1.  Boring B2 had 9 feet of fill, B3 had

6.5 feet of fill.  B4 had 8 feet of fill over silty peat.  In B5 there was 13 to 16 feet of fill,

which extended below the water table.  Borings B6 and B7 had 8 feet of fill over peat.
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This fill continued below the water table.  Because of deep fill continuing below the water

table, testing anywhere west of B4 is not recommended. 

The second set of borings covered the property to the north of the Richmond Valley

Road tests.  In Areas 2 and 3, there were 8 borings completed, B4, B12, B16, B24, B31,

B32, B33, and B34 (Mechanics Drilling Corp. 2009).  B4 showed a profile with 17 feet

of fill; this is about 1 foot below the water table.  The 13 feet of fill in B12  also extended

below the water table.  There was also 13 feet of fill in B13, it extended to about the

water table.  Boring B15 showed 20 feet of fill, there was 14 to 18 feet of fill in B16, and

16 to 20 feet in B21.  B24 had 18 feet of fill extending below the water table.  The 15

feet of fill in B31 extended to the water table.  B32 and B33 had 19 feet of fill, B34 had

16 feet; all 3 had fill extending below the water.  

This boring data should be compiled and used to construct a plan to backhoe test parts

of Area 2.  

Area 3

Area 3, on the south side of the property, lines the north shore of Weir’s Mill Creek.

Changes in project design in 2014 have reinstated Area 3 within the APE.  This area

could contain mill related remains.

Area 4

The topography of Area 4 is unusual and is not natural.  It was heavily modified by

industrial concerns in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.  The nature, age,

and function of the long raceway appearing trench is an enigma.  A wooden cover to the

raceway was apparently covered or removed by a pollution remediating construction

team in 2008.  An unusual pair of berms, forming a possible mill seat far from Weir’s Mill

Creek, was trenched.  No evidence to support the mill hypothesis was found.  Instead,

deep fill and a large terra cotta pipeline was found.  The line apparently took fresh water

from the artificial pond to an unknown location to the southeast.  This would likely have

been built either by the A. Cole lumber mill and coal business, or the later Moran

Transportation Company.  The fresh water might have been used to supply one or more

steam engines, or served some other industrial purpose.



-56-

Area 5

Six Area 5 tests yielded a single Precontact lithic flake each.   ST164, 166, 168 and 196

occur in one cluster.  ST171 and 191 are isolated discoveries.  Additional testing here

is required.  The historic material was fairly widespread in the southwest side of Area 5.

Historic material was recovered from many tests, including ST163, 165, 166, 168,

169,170, 171, 173, 190, and 195.  The ceramics from Area 5 are the most time sensitive

indicators among the artifacts.  Collectively they span most of the eighteenth and

nineteenth centuries, with varieties like Delftware, creamware, pearlware, redware,

yelloware, porcelain, and ironstone.  This data supports the duration of occupation of the

Disosway/Totten/Starr house. Additional testing of this historic site should be combined

with the Precontact testing. 

Area 6

No cultural resources were encountered in Area 6.  This area includes wetlands which

will be preserved within the project.  No additional investigation is recommended.

Area 7

The Abram Cole house is a mid-nineteenth century dwelling that is associated with the

Cole and Dissosway families, both with long and rich family histories in the Tottenville

area.  The house was reviewed for possible New York City Landmark status in 2009 but

was rejected (MAS NYC 2008),  The discovery of a large millstone in the garden of the

Cole house is an interesting link with Staten Island’s industrial history.  In a 1951 report

on the old mill, the author noted  “ At the threshold of a house near by one of the old

millstones now serves another purpose as a doorstep” (McMillen 1951:25).  It is likely

that this is the millstone mentioned.  If possible, the millstone should be incorporated

into a historic themed exhibit in Waterfront Commons.  If not possible, the millstone

should be donated to a local historical society or museum.  Despite its great size and

weight, millstones are prized and are readily stolen.  Waterfront Commons should take

measures to secure the safety of the millstone during construction.  An adaptive reuse

of some of the bricks in the walkway and driveway should also be considered.



-57-

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Phase 1B archaeological field testing at the Waterfront Commons project area resulted

in the following recommendations for each archaeological area.

Area 1, located on the north end of the Waterfront Commons property, includes one

large Native American site along with isolated shovel tests and small clusters of STs

with Precontact (prehistoric) or historic era artifacts.  Precontact lithics, including stone

tools and many chert and jasper flakes were recovered from a large number of shovel

tests in Area 1.  A 5m shovel test grid showed the site to be very large.  In addition to

the lithic finds, Native American pottery was found in several STs.  One test had a

hearth feature and a chopper.  Others indicated the presence of shell middens.  This

site, christened Catbriar Site after its dominant vegetation, requires additional testing in

the for of Phase 2, in order for NYHPO to evaluate it.  This Phase 2 testing will include

some shovel testing where needed to define site boundaries.  Excavation units should

be completed as part of Phase 2 work at the Catbrier Site.  An historic site in the

northwestern section of Area 1 is part of the 2014 APE.  Historic ceramics, as early as

1675 A.D. were found at this location and may be part of the DuBois or Dissosway

farmsteads.  See Figure 41 for the location of the historic and prehistoric site in Area 1.

Area 2 extends from Area 3 in the south into the center of the project area.  This part of

the property appears to be blanketed with thick modern fill.  Preliminary shovel testing

found a Precontact jasper flake in one shovel test.  Supplemental tests near that find

spot did not produce any additional artifacts and indicate that the deposits are fill.  A

single backhoe trench was excavated.  It showed in excess of 3m (10 ft) of fill; intact

natural strata were not reached.  Additional backhoe trenching is needed to determine

the presence or absence of archaeological sites in Area 2.  A backhoe testing program

for Area 2 should be designed in cooperation with NYSOPRHP, and implemented.

Backhoe testing should be limited to the eastern half of Area 2, based on the results of

boring analysis.  As discussed in the previous section, the western area has fill deposits

continuing below sea level.

Area 3 is in the extreme southern end of the property.  Preliminary shovel testing failed

to penetrate the recent fill blanketing the area.  Project redesign now includes impacts
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to Area 3.  Further field investigation to determine depth of fill and natural strata is

needed, as outlined for Area 2.

Area 4 includes the remains of a sawmill complex.  Evidence of the mill includes a huge

piece of riveted iron, likely from a boiler, a section of headrace, and a possible mill seat.

A pond, located downstream of the mill seat is enigmatic.  While the mill was using

waterpower, backwater pressure was to be avoided.  It could slow the flow of water, and

hence the power generated by a water wheel or turbine.  This pond only appears on

twentieth century maps.  It may have existed only after the mill transitioned from water

power to steam or electric power.  Additional investigations of the sawmill should begin

with historic research.  This could involve research at state and/or local repositories.

Once this has been completed, the evolution of the design and use of the mill can be

estimated.  Then, additional infield industrial archaeology should be used to evaluate the

integrity and condition of the mill ruins and deposits.  

Area 5 includes historic domestic archaeological remains spanning most of the

eighteenth and nineteenth centuries.   These deposits include ceramics, glass, and

faunal remains.  These deposits are likely related to the Dissosway/Totten/Starr house

site.  This eighteenth century house was extensively photo documented in 1920, prior

to its demolition for construction of  Outerbridge Crossing.  In addition to historic finds,

six Area 5 shovel tests also produced Precontact flakes; four were in a cluster and two

were isolated.   Two backhoe trenches were used to look at soils and fill in the

southwest part of Area 5.  They showed fairly good preservation of strata, with some

disturbance.  

Additional investigations of both the historic and Precontact components of Area 5 will

be required.  Shovel testing, using a 5m grid of tests should be the first method

employed.  Following the completion of  the shovel tests, additional excavations may be

sited based on the results.  Those excavations could include excavation units and/or

backhoe tests.  The goal of the testing will be to evaluate the Area in terms of its

preservation and research potential.  One goal will be to examine the location of the

Totten and Dissosway houses.  Another goal will be to search for related features and

deposits.  At the same time, the nature and extent of the Precontact component can be

evaluated.  
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No cultural resources were encountered in Area 6.  No additional investigation is

recommended.

Area 7 includes a standing nineteenth century Cole house at 4927 Arthur Kill Road.  The

Cole House is associated with two prominent local mill owners, the Coles and the

Dissosways.  The discovery of a large mill stone on the property is notable, and should

consider displaying it in or near the shopping center.  A considerable collection of old

bricks from the driveway and walkways are also available for adaptive reuse.  The

historic archaeological site has some potential in terms of both artifacts and features.

A Phase 2 investigation is recommended.  The small corner lot on Richmond Valley

Road includes the ruins of a small house, presumably built by Mary C. Hilliard after

1900.  The partially exposed, large, brick cistern seems somewhat oversized for the

small dwelling.  If it was dug for the house, it shows the isolated nature of this Tottenville

neighborhood in the early twentieth century.  It has some archaeological value and

should be further evaluated or avoided. 

The submerged sections of the project area were not included in the Phase 1B testing

portion of this project.  Current (2014) project plans do not include development of the

submerged portion of the project area.



-60-

BIBLIOGRAPHY

anonymous

1898 Industrial Staten Island Before Consolidation 1897. Richmond

Publishing Co., n.p. 

      c1902 Manuscript Directory of Staten Island Residents.  On file, Staten Island

Museum History Archives, Snug Harbor.

1912 Tottenville 1912. 3 volume scrapbook on file at the Tottenville Branch,

NYCPL.  

Bailey, O.H.  & Co.

1902 Tottenville, Borough of Richmond. O.H. Bailey & Co., Boston. 

Bayles, Richard M.

1887 History of Richmond County, Staten Island, New York, from its

Discovery to the Present Time.  New York, New York: L.E. Preston and

Company.

Beers, J.B.

1884 Atlas of Staten Island, Richmond County, New York.  New York, New

York: J.B. Beers and Company.

1887 Beers’ New Map of Staten Island.  New York, New York: J.B. Beers and

Company.

Benimoff, Alan I. And Anderson A. Ohan

2003 The Geology of Staten Island. 

www.library.csi.cuny.edu/dept/as/geo/sigeo.htm.

Biography Resource Center

n.d. Famous Staten Islanders, A – E.  On file, local history section, St.

George Library.



-61-

Bromley, G.W.

1917 Atlas of the City of New York, Borough of Richmond, Staten Island. 

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania: Bromley and Company.

Brown, Mrs. George Christie, Jr.

1935 A Folk History of the Billop Shores. Report on file at the Tottenville

Branch, NYCPL.

Butler, James

1853 Map of Staten Island or Richmond County, N. Y.  Surveyed, drawn and

published by James Butler, C. E. and Surveyor.

Clute, John J.

1877 Annals of Staten Island From Its Discovery to the Present Time.  New

York, New York: Charles Vogt.

Crabtree, Don E.

1972 An Introduction to Flintworking.  Occasional Papers of the Idaho State

University Museum, Number 28.  Pocatello, Idaho: Idaho State

University Museum.

Davis, William T.

1920 William T. Davis Collection Photographs.  Collection of the Staten

Island Museum, Snug Harbor.

Dickenson, Richard, editor

2002 Holden’s Staten Island.  New York, Center for Migration Studies. 

Directory of Richmond Borough

1912 Directory of Richmond Borough.

Dripps, M.

1872 Map of Staten Island (Richmond Co.) N.Y.  New York, New York: M.

Dripps.



-62-

Eberlain, Harold D.

1928 Historic Homes of Long Island and Staten Island. Port Washington, Ira

Friedman, Inc. 

Historic Districts Council

2009 Captain Abram and Ruth Cole Dissosway Cole House, 4927 Arthur Kill

Road, Staten Island Rejected for Landmark Status. 

Historical Records Survey Service Division

1942 The Earliest Volume of Staten Island Records (1678-1813).  New York,

New York: Work Projects Administration.

Hubbell,, A.V.,  Publisher

1893 Prominent Men of Staten Island 1893. New York: A.V. Hubbell,

Publisher. 

https://archive.org/stream/prominentmenofst00newy#page/n5/mode/1u

p

Joline, Benjamin F.

1950 Tottenville in Retrospect.  Staten Island, New York: B.F. Joline.

Kuhn, Robert D. and Barbara J. Little

2000 The Evaluation of Nineteenth-and Twentieth Century Domestic. Sites. 

In Nineteenth-and Early Twentieth Century Domestic Site Archaeology

in New York State by Robert D. Kuhn and Barbara J. Little.  New

York State Museum Bulletin 495, Albany.

Leng, Charles and William T. Davis

1930 Staten Island and Its People: A History 1609-1929.  New York, New

York: Lewis Historical Publishing Company, Inc.

Mangino, Angie

2000 Tottenville Businesses of the Past. 

Www.geocities.com/tottenville10307/BusinessesofPast.html.  Originally

published in the Staten Island Register September 12, 2000.



-63-

McMillen, Loring

     1949-51 Old Mills of Staten Island.  From The Staten Island Historian.  On file at

the St. George Library.

1951 Old Mills of Staten Island. Part Eight: Dissosway’s Mill. The Staten

Island Historian. Vol. XII, No. 4: 1-2.

Mechanics Drilling Corp. 

2009 Waterfront Commons – Subsurface Investigations.  Drawing 08-713-18.

Mechanics Drilling Corp., Seaford, New York.

Merlis, Brian and Bob Stonehill

2002 Staten Island in Old Postcards.  Israelowitz Publishing, Brooklyn.

Moran Towing

2009 Moran Towing Website - http://www.morantug.com/port_ny.asp. 

Accessed Sept. 10.

Morris, Ira K.

1898 Morris’s Memorial History of Staten Island.  New York, New York:

Memorial Publishing Company.

Municipal Art Society of New York City (MAS NYC)

2008 MAS Position on 4927 Arthur Kill Road, Staten Island.  MAS.OR/MAS-

POSITION-ON-4927-Arthur Kill-Rd-staten-island/. Accessed Feb/ 17,

2014.

New York, City of

1975 Towns in South Richmond.  

New York City, Bureau of Engineering

1924 Atlas of New York: Sectional Aerial Maps of the City of New York. 

Plate 32D.  New York, New York.



-64-

New York City Soil Survey

2005 New York City Reconnaissance Soil Survey.  United States Department

of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, Staten Island,

New York.

Plan No. 31 du Camp Anglo-Hessois dans Staten Island (Baie de New York de 1780-

1783.

1780-1783

Richmond Borough Business Directory

1912 Richmond Borough Business Directory. Arthur Hubbell, West New

Brighton.

Richmond, Borough of

1913 Topographical Survey.  Sheet 88.

Richmond County Sentinel

1886 Richmond County Sentinel September 25.  Copy on file, Staten Island

Museum, Snug Harbor.

Robinson, E.

1898 Atlas of the Borough of Richmond, City of New York.  New York, New

York: E. Robinson and Company.

1907 Atlas of the Borough of Richmond, City of New York.  New York, New

York: E. Robinson and Company. 

Sanborn Fire Insurance Map Co.

1878 Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps of Staten Island.  Sanborn Map &

Publishing Co., New York.

1885 Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps of Staten Island.  Sanborn Map &

Publishing Co., New York.  Corrected 1891.  Sanborn Map & Publishing

Co., New York.

1917a Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps of Staten Island. Vol. 2. Sanborn

Map & Publishing Co., New York.

1917b Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps of Staten Island. Vol. 2. Sanborn

Map & Publishing Co., New York.



-65-

Shepherd, Barnett

2008 Tottenville: The Town the Oyster Built. Preservation League of Staten

Island and the Tottenville Historical Society, Tottenville. 

Skene, Frederick

1907 Map of Staten Island, Richmond County, New York.  Showing Colonial

Land Patents from 1668-1712.

Smith, Dorothy Valentine

1968 This Was Staten Island. Staten Island Historical Society, n.p.

Smith, J. Calvin

1844 Map of Long Island with the Environs of New-York and the Southern

Part of Connecticut compiled from various surveys & documents.  New

York, New York: S. Stiles & Co.

Staten Island Museum

n.d. Special Collection Index- Business and Industry. 

Staten Island Railroad

n.d. Handbook of the Staten Island Railroad with ……..Business Directory. 

Metropolitan Advertising Co., New York.  

Steinmeyer, Henry G.

1949 Staten Island Under British Rule.  New York, Pandick Press, Inc.

The Standard Directory 

1893 The Standard Directory of Richmond Borough for the Years 1893&

1894.  Robert Humphrey, New Brighton.  

1897 The Standard Directory of Richmond Borough for the Years 1897&

1898.  Robert Humphrey, New Brighton.

Tottenville Historical Society.

2009 Richmond Valley Historic Sites. 

http.//www.tottenvillehistoricalsociety.com.  Accessed June 18.



-66-

Tudor, Henry R.

n.d. Richmond County Register.  Henry R. Tudor, New York.  

United States Coast Survey

1845  New York Harbor, 1836-1839.

1866 New York Harbor.

United States Geological Survey

1891 Staten Island, N.Y. Quadrangle.  15 minute series, surveyed 1888-

1889.

1898 Staten Island, N.Y. Quadrangle.  15 minute series, surveyed 1888,

1889, 1897.

1966 Arthur Kill, N.Y./N.J. Quadrangle.  7.5 minute series..

Vermuele and Bien

1890 A Topographical Map of Staten Island, Richmond County, N.Y.

Wager, (first name not provided)

1935 Our Fathers Have Told Us, Tottenville Facts and Traditions Told by

Lovers of Their Hometown.  New York Public Library, Staten Island.

Waterfront Commons

2006 Site Profiles. 10-27-2006.

2013 Site Plan. 08-07-2013.

Webb Brothers & Co. 

1882 Webb’s Consolidated Directory of the North and South Shores, Staten

Island.  Webb Brothers & Co., New York. 

 

Works Progress Administration

c1941 WPA Tax Photos of New York City.  On microfilm, St. George

Library Center, St. George.









Ú·¹«®» ì   Ú®±³ ¬¸» ïéèï Íµ·²²»® ¿²¼ Ì¿§́ ±® ³¿°ò



Ú·¹«®» ë  Ú®±³ ¬¸» ïéèðóïéèí Ð´¿² Ò±ò íï ¼« Ý¿³° ß²¹´±óØ»­­±·­ ¼¿²­ Í¬¿¬»² ×­´¿²¼ò





Ú·¹«®» é  Ú®±³ ¬¸» ïèìì Í³·¬¸ ³¿°ò



Ú·¹«®» è  Ú®±³ ¬¸» ËòÍò Ý±¿­¬ Í«®ª»§ô ïèìëò



Ú·¹«®» ç   Ú®±³ ¬¸» ïèëí Þ«¬´»® ³¿°ò



Ú·¹«®» ïð  Ú®±³ ¬¸» ËòÍò Ý±¿­¬ Í«®ª»§ô ïèêêò



Ú·¹«®» ïï   Ú®±³ ¬¸» ïèéî Ü®·°°­ ³¿°ò



Ú·¹«®» ïî  Ú®±³ ¬¸» ïèéì Þ»»®­ ¿¬´¿­ò



Ú·¹«®» ïí   Ú®±³ ¬¸» ïèèé Þ»»®­ ³¿°ò



Ú·¹«®» ïì  Ú®±³ ¬¸» ïèçð Ê»®³«»´» ¿²¼ Þ·»² ³¿°ò



Ú·¹«®» ïë  Ú®±³ ¬¸» ËòÍòÙòÍò ïë ³·²«¬» Í¬¿¬»² ×­´¿²¼ô ÒòÇò ¯«¿¼®¿²¹´»ò



Ú·¹«®» ïê   Ú®±³ ¬¸» ïèçè Î±¾·²­±² ¿¬´¿­ò



Ú·¹«®» ïé   Ú®±³ ¬¸» ïèçè ËòÍòÙòÍò ïë ³·²«¬» Í¬¿¬»² ×­´¿²¼ ¯«¿¼®¿²¹´»ò





Ú·¹«®» ïç   Ú®±³ ¬¸» ïçïé Þ®±³´»§ ß¬´¿­ô Ð´¿¬» ìïò



Ú·¹«®» îð  Ú®±³ ¬¸» ïçïé ®»ª·­»¼ Í¿²¾±®² ­¸±©·²¹ ¬¸» Ó±®¿² Ì±©·²¹ ú Ì®¿²­°±®¬¿¬·±² Ý±³°¿²§ ½±³°´»¨ ¿¬ ¬¸» »²¼ ±º Î·½¸³±²¼ Ê¿´´»§ Î±¿¼ò



Ú·¹«®» îï   Ú®±³ ¬¸» ïçîì Ò»© Ç±®µ Ý·¬§ Þ«®»¿« ±º Û²¹·²»»®·²¹ ¿»®·¿´ ¿¬´¿­ô Ð´¿¬» íîÜò













Ú·¹«®» îé  Ð¸±¬±¹®¿°  ̧º·®­¬ °«¾´·­¸»¼ ·² Ì±¬¬»²ª·´´» ·² Î»¬®±­°»½¬ ­¸±©·²¹ ¬¸» Ñ´¼ É»·® Ó·́ ´ ¿²¼ ¬¸» Ý±´» Þ®±¬¸»®­ ½±¿´ ¿²¼ ´«³¾»®§¿®¼ò  Í»» ¬»¨¬ º±® ¬¸» º«´  ́½¿°¬·±² øÖ±´·²» ïçëðæìçå °¸±¬±

®»°®·²¬»¼ ·² Í¸»°¸»®¼ îððèæíê÷ò
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APPENDIX 2

BUILDING SITE INVENTORY FORMS







Photograph 1 Location of former house, facing northeast from Richmond Valley Road



Photograph 2 Facing east from Arthur Kill Road, signage advertising new development.









Photograph 1 House at 4914 Arthur Kill Road, facing east.



Photograph 2 Facing east-northeast at 4914 Arthur Kill Road, showing house and barn.









Photograph 1 View of 4927 Arthur Kill Road, facing west.



Photograph 2 View of 4927 Arthur Kill Road facing west-southwest from the north end of the house.

































































































































































































































APPENDIX 5

PREHISTORIC ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITE INVENTORY FORM - CATBRIAR SITE



NEW YORK STATE PREHISTORIC ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITE INVENTORY FORM
NYS OFFICE OF PARKS, RECREATION & HISTORIC PRESERVATION
(518) 237-8643                            

For Office Use Only--Site Identifier                                                              

Project Identifier   07PR04902                                                                   Date  March, 2014 

Your Name      William Sandy, RPA                                             Phone ( 201 ) 455-3555 
Address      Greenhouse Consultants Inc.
                386 Broadway, Bayonne, NJ 07002                                                                                                 
                                                                                                                  
Organization (if any) 
1. SITE IDENTIFIER(S) Catbriar Site 
2. COUNTY   Richmond                                        One of the following:CITY   Staten  Island,  New  York  City 

 

3. PRESENT OWNER                                                                            
   Address                                                                                                 
                                                                                                                 

4. SITE DESCRIPTION (check all appropriate categories):
  Site
       Stray Find      Cave/Rockshelter      Workshop
       Pictograph      Quarry      Mound
       Burial   x  Shell Midden      Village
       Surface Evidence    x Camp   x  Material in plow zone
    x  Material below plow zone    x Buried evidence    x Intact Occupation floor
       Single component    x Evidence of features      Stratified
                                 Multicomponent
Location
        Under cultivation      Never cultivated   x   Previously cultivated
        Pastureland   x  Woodland       Floodplain
        Upland       Sustaining erosion

  Soil Drainage:  excellent    x    good           fair          poor     
  Slope:   flat         gentle  x      moderate         steep       
  Distance to nearest water from site (approx.)            50 ft (15m)                                 
  Elevation:      12’ to 18’                                      

5.  SITE INVESTIGATION (append additional sheets, if necessary):
  Surface--date(s)       na                               
          Site map (Submit with form) 
          Collection 

  Subsurface--date(s)      Oct. to Dec., 2008 & July and Aug., 2013                    
    Testing:  shovel  x        coring          other                       unit size     35cm x 35cm                     
              no. of units    279                (Submit plan of units with form)
  Excavation:  unit size                     no. of units               0       
  Investigator                                                                                                                

 OPRHP Prehistoric Site Form - page 1  



   Manuscript or published report(s) (reference fully):
Greenhouse Consultants
2014 PHASE I CULTURAL RESOURCE SURVEY OF WATERFRONT COMMONS…RICHMOND COUNTY, 
STATEN ISLAND, NEW YORK. 

   Present repository of materials                                                                                                                           
GCI
Bayonne, NJ

6. COMPONENT(S) (cultural affiliation/dates):

Woodland (based on pottery) and possibly Archaic.

7. LIST OF MATERIAL REMAINS (be specific as possible in identifying object and material):

Fire Cracked Rock (including hearth feature), argillite, chert, chalcedony and jasper debitage, and chopper.  Clam 
and oyster shell.  Pottery (sand temper, cordmarked, fabric impressed, cordmarked, incised, punctate)

   If historic materials are evident, check here and fill out historic site form         

8. MAP REFERENCES

      USGS 7.5 Minute Series Quad.  Name                      Arthur Kill, NJ/NY                                
 
      UTM Coordinates                                                                                       

9. Photography

 OPRHP Prehistoric Site Form - page 2  
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BORING LOGS










